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Friday, September 23, 2016

--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.


MS. HELT:  Good morning, everyone.  We are here for day 2 of the technical conference of Hydro One Transmission's rate application.  We have a new court reporter with us today, Lisa Lamberti.  She will let you know if she can't hear your answers if your microphone is not on.


Thank you to panel 1 for reappearing today and assisting us with scheduling issues.


We will get started right away.  Mr. Higgins, are you all set to go?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I am, thank you, Maureen.  I don't know that Mr. Nettleton has any introductory remarks or he is going to leave it to me to go.


MR. NETTLETON:  [Speaking off-mic]  So my only introductory remarks is, please take it away, Mr. Higgins.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  So my only introductory remarks is, please take it away, Mr. Higgins.


MS. HELT:  Just, Mr. Higgins, for your information, I don't know -- oh, no, you were here yesterday for the introductory remarks, I believe, for panel 1.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. HELT:  Okay.  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Just make sure my mic is on, okay?  Thank you.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Oded Hubert

Keith McDonell

Joel Jodoin

Henry André

Bijan Alagheband

Questions by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  So I would just like to start with a follow-up on the questions on the load forecast, since Bijan -- and I won't try to spell your name, I am sorry -- is that okay?


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Alagheband.


DR. HIGGIN:  Alagheband.  Thank you.  So it was a follow-up to Energy Probe interrogatory response, which is Exhibit I, tab 11, Schedule 4.


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  And that deals with the load forecast, and specifically to part (d) of that response, if you could look at part (d).  Okay --


MR. ANDRE:  Just give us a minute --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, then we can find part (d), yeah.


Okay, part (d), yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So in this response you point us to one other exhibit, but then, thankfully, you say "a graphical presentation of forecast and errors/trends are presented".  That was very helpful to provide that information.


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  So the question I am having is, one, regarding the fit.  If you look at the line just above the bottom it says "graphs reflecting the fit".  You see the words "the fit"?


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then can we go to page 6 of this, which is the part of the same interrogatory, page 6.


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  And we are looking at the residential model.


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly.


DR. HIGGIN:  So my question is straightforward, very simple question, is, in the case of the commercial, industrial, agricultural, you gave us a fit to the curve.  Do you have a fit for the residential model and can you provide the fit curve, the fitted curve?


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I tell you, the system that we are using actually cannot give that.  What I did, all these graphs are coming from the system itself, and the reason is that for residential sector we use the three stage least squares, which is a different estimation method compared to other cases, and in that one it doesn't give actually the fit into that.


But what you can do is look at the residuals, which would be the difference between what we have there and for the historical period that how much the fit could have been deviating from the actuals.  And as you can see, the deviations are really small, I mean, I -- totally negligible.  And this is also reflected in the R-squared for the model, which was given in the original pre-filed.  And so that is what would be my answer on that.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, so you can't provide it because for a simple man like me a fit is more informative than --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly --


DR. HIGGIN:  -- looking at the residuals?


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  -- understand -- yeah, understand what -- but the system doesn't give that, you know, so it's difficult.


DR. HIGGIN:  So can you just remind us, then, so -- on the record, what "LELSAT residual" and the "LELUSE residuals" are?


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yeah, exactly, so we model the residual set -- residential sector by looking at the saturation.  That is our sat.  "Sat" it stands for saturation.  And L in front of it is actually the logarithm of that, so logarithm of electricity saturation, so how much equipments (ph) we have, in terms of, you know, electricity usage, and then the other one, LELUSE simply means, you know, the usage rate that we have on the -- on those equipments.


So you may have the equipment by -- you may use your usage on that.


So those two factors, when you multiply the usage by saturation times number of households, that would give you demand for electricity, and that is what -- that's the way we model the electricity -- the residential sector.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Just as a follow-up, then, looking back at the graph, the residential model, it would appear that, following the fairly large drop between about 2005 and 2010 --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly.


DR. HIGGIN:  -- there seems to be an increase happening, which is counterintuitive to the fact that conservation programs have been put in place, big ones, since 2010 --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yeah, exactly.


DR. HIGGIN:  -- can you explain --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly.  But the way we do it, we actually add back the conservation impact to the historical actual, and the reason we do that is to bring our load back to historical relation that load has with economy, because we are going to use economy factors to forecast the load.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah, for example, in two-oh-nine, ten, the economy took a big hit, right?


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly, and so we can see that residential sector is bit resilient with respect to, you know, the recession or things like that or financial crisis.  We see that more in the industrial sector, in the industrial sector took a very big hit, and -- but not in residential.  Residential doesn't drop after that, because we are adding back the conservation also to the actual load, so it keeps going up.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you, I understand that.


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Thanks.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for those responses.


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  You're welcome.


DR. HIGGIN:  I have one other follow-up question.  Let me just find that.  And I think I just discussed that with counsel.


If we could look at page 109 of yesterday's transcript, and we are looking at TCJ1.24.  Now, this was posed to you by Mr. Dumka yesterday about the BGIS contract, and you've undertaken to provide, quote, some additional information, and I just need to understand what we might be looking at because, as you know, you referred us to Mr. Dumka's IRR in our IRR.


So what we were looking for -- and I am just trying to confirm what we might see -- is the following:  Did you provide a scorecard -- are you going to provide a scorecard for the KPIs or not in your response?  That's the first question.  Is that intention?


MR. HUBERT:  So, yes, we will be following up on the request that Mr. Dumka made yesterday.  I think the undertaking was for us to examine the detail we provided in that interrogatory response related to the service levels, I believe.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. HUBERT:  And the quantification.  And as we noted yesterday, I am unfortunately not the witness.  Mr. Snider is accountable for that.  He is not here.  So we will, as part of that answer, also be able to see whether we will be able to address more fully what you are looking for.  It will be in the context of the answer -- the undertaking that I took on yesterday, if that's satisfactory to you.


DR. HIGGIN:  The other thing that I was hoping we might see is a statement by Hydro of what would be the consequences for the contract in BGIS with respect to excessive, good performance, or bad performance, what would be the consequences, how would we judge that.  That was the other thing I was hoping you might address.


MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  So we can do that within the context of that undertaking, or as a separate undertaking?


MR. HIGGIN:  I am happy as long as it's included.  If you have information, I am happy to leave it in that one.


MS. HELT:  Okay.  So the record will show then that that will be included in the undertaking TCJ1.24.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ1.24 (ADDITIONAL):  TO PROVIDE A STATEMENT BY HYDRO OF WHAT WOULD BE THE CONSEQUENCES FOR THE CONTRACT IN BGIS WITH RESPECT TO EXCESSIVE, GOOD PERFORMANCE, OR BAD PERFORMANCE, WHAT WOULD BE THE CONSEQUENCES, HOW WOULD WE JUDGE THAT


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  My final question on this --


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Higgin, let us -- we just want to clarify exactly what we are doing here.  And again, the challenge here is that the witness responsible for this area is not Mr. Hubert, it's Mr. Snider.  So yesterday when we gave the undertaking, the undertaking given was to examine the record to see what information could be provided.


And that is the same response that we would be giving here, that we will look to see whether or not we can do this, not the actual production of KPIs or of information that says this is the consequence of bad performance, or this is the consequence of good performance.


The undertaking given was to examine the record to see what is available, that's all.  And we are qualifying that, again because Mr. Hubert is not the witness responsible for this.  We have to go back and search the record, and talk with Mr. Snider about the details.


MS. HELT:  I will let Mr. Higgin speak to this; it's his undertaking.  But my understanding of what Mr. Hubert said was that he would go back and find out what additional information was available, and provide the information if it was available, as requested.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  From our point of view, from an efficiency point of view, it would be better to try to do the best you can on this TC rather than me ask the questions to Mr. Snider in the hearing and get undertakings.


So basically, I do hope that you will understand we are trying to put these things forward to try and be efficient.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Higgin, I think we appreciate the nature of the questions.  Part of the problem, or part of the challenge with this TC is that we don't have all of the answers.  And having the questions to us in advance is helpful; it understands what areas you are interested in for the purposes of the hearing.


My concern is just the work effort involved of using the technical conference effectively as a second round of information requests or interrogatories and that, quite frankly, is not what we see the purpose of a technical conference.


We are here to help clarify responses that have been provided on the record.


MR. HIGGIN:  Well, let's then look at part (e) of that interrogatory response, since you invited a debate on this,  part (e) of that response to Mr. Dumka's response, which is Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 9, Society.  Look at part (e).


We can go back to our original question, because I asked the same question about consequences in our IR.  Mr. Dumka asked about it in his part (e); we see the response to part (e).


So basically, my view on this is that it's a legitimate question that we asked in interrogatory, and we would hope that you would do a best efforts based on that, rather than deferring this to the hearing.


MR. NETTLETON:  Again, I think that we're talking across each other here.  The undertaking given, Mr. Higgin, was for us to go back and look and see what we can provide.  And I am just saying I don't want there to be misunderstandings about a firm commitment to put information or do additional work associated with this request.


What we are doing is we are going to go back and examine what we can provide, and that's the best efforts that we would be doing.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I will leave it to that, thank you.


So I now would like to move forward to the next area of questions and, as a segue into this, this area is related to compensation and specifically focused these questions are on bands 1 and 2 of the executive and 3 and 4, but not the lower bands.  So that's just to give you a context.


So we will start with, if you could, with Energy Probe IR, Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 23.  And then of course the response immediately points us to Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 57, attachment 1, which is the Hugessen Consulting report.


If you look at the response to that in part (a), the response clearly points us to the Hugessen report.  Okay.


So we have some follow-up questions in trying to understand the Hugessen report and how it relates to other compensation studies that Hydro has done and is doing currently.


So this is again for bands 1 and 2, and also 3 and 4. So the question is:  Who indicated or determined the primary peer group for the CEO and CFO for the Hugessen review?  Was it Hugessen, or was it Hydro One, or was it the Hydro One board of directors?


So do you know who determined the primary peer group?


MR. McDONELL:  So I believe the primary peer group for Hugessen was given by Hugessen itself.  Hugessen is a compensation expert consultant to the Hydro One board of directors, so we would be relying upon that advice to assist us in developing the peer group.


There probably was some conversations between the parties, but Hugessen, being a compensation expert, would be providing the advice.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then can you tell me why the comparison peer group is not the same as that recommended by Hydro One for the IPO?


MR. NETTLETON:  No, Mr. Higgin, we are now venturing into the area of cross-examination.  These questions you may very well want to bring up at the hearing, but that's not a question that related to clarifying the evidence.


The interrogatory that you pointed to was a question (a), part (a), as I understand it, which asked to please provide the Hugessen consulting report.  We have done that, we have provided it.


You have now asked the question about who had responsibility for the peer group; we've provided that response.


But when you get into the area of questioning that you are now asking about inconsistencies in evidence, that is a matter of cross-examination.  That is not a matter that's appropriate for this technical conference.  So I instruct the witness not to answer the question.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Well, I will go to my next question is: Can you explain or compare -- I will use the word compare -- the primary peer group to the current Willis Towers Watson peer group, which is in the evidence and that's another report that you referred to in other interrogatories.


MR. NETTLETON:  Again my answer is the same as I provided before, Mr. Higgin.  This is an area of cross-examination.  You are now comparing and contrasting evidence.  These are not questions of clarification relating to interrogatory responses.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I have to ask these questions because they will come, all of them, in the hearing.  So let's be clear about that.  I am asking the questions now and I will refer you to the responses.


Okay.  So now let's go to another response, and again it's peer group related, and that is: Can you inform us how -- what is the peer group for the current Mercer underway study, the current 2016 study.


Can you inform us about what is the peer group?  We haven't got the evidence yet, but can you inform us about that?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I can help you out on that.  The peer group for the Mercer study, you may recall from past compensation Mercer studies we have provided --


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes, the 2012; I have got the 2012.


MR. McDONELL:  Correct.  One of the things we have been doing and directed by the Board here was to try and be consistent, so we can show trending within the total compensation that Mercer provided.


So by and large the peer group will be the same from the previous three studies.  Now, we have tried to add a couple of other peer groups just to provide a little bit more data, but by and large it would be the same peer groups for MCP, PW, and Society jobs.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, that's very helpful.  I think you know where I am going with this concern that I have, and so I might as well express it on the record.


The peer groups have been chosen differently in these studies.  There is no consistency as the Board has asked for in the past.  So that's an area that we will explore in the hearing, since I am not allowed to do that here, so just, I am putting that on the record.


MR. NETTLETON:  That's very helpful, Mr. Higgins, and we appreciate the heads-up, if you will, that that is an area that you are intending to explore in the hearing.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So what I would like to do, just follow up on a couple of your responses.  If we could turn to the same response -- schedule, which is the Exhibit I, tab 11, Schedule 23.  And can we turn to part (b), originally, starting with (b) of that response.  Thank you.


So here you provide information about the bands 1 and 2 compensation for two-16.  Am I correct in interpreting that, Mr. Campbell -- McDonell, sorry.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Higgins, if I am understanding the question, the interrogatory request was, please provide the recommendations made to the government and the Hydro One board based on the report.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  And I am just trying to confirm that what we have here is the two-16 -- my -- compensation that was approved by the Hydro board.  I am just confirming that with the witness.


MR. McDONELL:  So what I am reading here is it's a submission to the board for the approval for the appointment of Mayo Schmidt and Michael Vels and the appointment for Carma Chellos, the special advisor, and that's what --


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.


MR. McDONELL:  -- this is.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


So then if we go on to part (c) of this interrogatory, then there is another table provided which is titled "compensation mix"; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  So what I am trying to understand is the math.  It is simply a math issue, that I want to try and reconcile the math in here, which is, base salaries are very clear what that math is.  But the math on the other two components of the compensation.


Can you undertake to do the math and compare it to the prior Board-approved?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Higgins, again, we are trying to use this process for clarifications of the responses and the questions that were asked during the interrogatory process.  You are now asking a completely different question of comparing and contrasting evidence.


I think the best thing we can do is not use this time for that purpose, but rather understand the issue that you have.  You are obviously concerned about how different compensation levels have applied over the years, and that's not something that we can do readily in this conference.  Like, we are trying to limit the number of interrogatories -- or a second round of interrogatories that seemingly is becoming the purpose of this technical conference.  And quite frankly, I am getting very concerned that that is an appropriate use of this process.  It's not intended for a second round of interrogatories.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Nettleton, if I may, you are quite right.  It's not intended to be an opportunity for a second round of interrogatories or for cross-examination.  It is intended to be an opportunity for parties to ask questions with respect to the application, the evidence that's been filed, including the interrogatory responses.


One thing I can tell you is that, while it is often the case that parties do ask for these comparisons in technical conferences, and if you do not want to take the undertaking and provide that answer now, that's up to you.  It goes to hearing.  But it makes the hearing then a much more lengthy process, and I do know that panels in the past have requested that parties provide these types of questions to an applicant in advance of an oral hearing to ensure we don't get a number of undertakings at the oral hearing, but it does not -- it's not the case that there won't be another opportunity for the parties to ask these questions, and so it's a matter of when, and if this is not the time, then that's up to you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, I think perhaps the best thing that we can do is have Mr. Higgins ask his questions, understand what areas he is interested in receiving, and not necessarily provide undertakings to have this information provided at and through this technical conference.


My concern, quite frankly, Ms. Helt, is that we now have, I think, over 35 undertakings, and we are being bombarded with the amount of information that is now coming out through this process, and we are very concerned about the time that is going to be required to prepare these.


So I am not in the least saying that the information isn't relevant, that it could come out through the hearing process.  I understand that it's -- there is some validity to the suggestion that if it's going to be considered relevant at the hearing that we should at least, you know, think about making the information available in advance, but I am concerned about the undertaking process itself and how that type of information may be associated with a time restraint relative to the other undertakings that have already been given.


It really is a case of the incremental effect of all of the undertakings that have been made to date and additional undertakings that seem to be coming in now.


So again, my suggestion is, Mr. Higgins, if you want to ask the questions and perhaps ask them in a way of saying, you know, Energy Probe is wanting to explore this area.  We would like information regarding the comparison of salary levels, we can look at that, we can consider your question, but making formal undertakings at this time, I am letting you know and others know that we are going to be very jealous in guarding this type of request because of the amount of time and the amount of undertakings that have already been made in this process.


DR. HIGGIN:  Can I respond to this, please?  Look at the question that you were asked in part (c).  Please look at the question.  Does the response provide that information?  My take on that is, no, it says a breakdown.  It then says "projected two-17-18 projected."  This response, Madame -- Ms. Helt, does not provide the requested information.  I am asking for that information now.  That is what I should be doing in this conference.


MS. HELT:  Well, if that's the case, I was speaking to generally how undertakings are a regular part of a technical conference and the reasons for that to happen to --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  -- make the process more efficient, so that is all I was speaking to, Mr. Higgins.


MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Higgins, to be helpful, like, I would turn your attention to the response provided in part (d), where it talks about the compensation levels in 2014.


So what, again, what I am concerned about is that we are now having to revisit the record and in the form of undertakings when the record is already clear as to, in terms of the information about past compensation levels and what we have explained the compensation levels to be for the current senior management.


DR. HIGGIN:  For two-16.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, what --


DR. HIGGIN:  You have not provided any information regarding two-17 and -18, which are the test years in this case.  You have provided historic information and you have provided two-16 information.


MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Higgins, again, what the record is clear on, what the application speaks to is that compensation levels for our senior management is, in the future, going to be based on performance metrics of STIP and LTIP, and that performance-based method of assessing compensation is obviously inherent upon future performance.  So we can't -- we don't have a crystal ball.


MR. HIGGIN:  But you have a budget -- excuse me, you have a budget which includes a projection of the compensation for these bands 1 and 2 and 3 and 4.  You have a budget in the evidence.


All we are exploring how did you generate that budget and what are the amounts, that's all.


MR. NETTLETON:  But, Mr. Higgin, that's not what got us to this point in your questioning.  Your questioning started out by saying could you compare and contrast.  Now you are asking for questions about how did you derive your budget.


MR. HIGGIN:  That is what a projection is.  In a forward test year in regulation, a budget is just that; it's a projection for the future.


MR. NETTLETON:  My point, sir, is if your questions are about projections and how you derived compensation levels, maybe we can ask those questions to the witnesses.


But what I was getting concerned about was the fact that you were asking originally about comparing and contrasting prior senior management to the current senior management.


MR. HIGGIN:  No, that was not my question.  My question was, in response to part (c), will you do the math, because you have told me it's so much percent of base salary, 280 percent of base salary.  You have told me a percent; all I wanted you to do is the math.


MR. McDONELL:  Maybe I can help you out.  If I refer you to part (c) of our response --


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. McDONELL:  -- we say that for 2017 and 2018, we have applied a 2 percent escalator to the numbers you see in the compensation mix.


I think if you did the math, the base salary is 850,000, the STI is 90 percent of that, and the long-term incentive at target is 280 percent.  If you did the math, I believe it comes out to $4 million.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, that's very helpful.  You have confirmed what I thought was in the original table as approved by the board, correct?


MR. McDONELL:  I am not sure what you mean by approved by the board.  The board of directors?  The board of directors of Hydro One?


MR. HIGGIN:  I am talking what you provided in part (b).


MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.


MR. HIGGIN:  So that was my original question.  Having gone round the houses, that's basically it.  And thank you very much for the response.


MR. McDONELL:  Glad I could help.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So just one other minor thing on this issue, and that is what is your, Hydro One, definition of direct compensation, because am I looking at direct compensation?


MR. McDONELL:  Direct compensation is base pay, short-term incentive, STIP, and long-term incentive pay.


MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So my question is: is there any other indirect compensation that is received by the executives in bands 1 and 2 and 3 and 4, such as shares or those type of things that are not part of that direct?


MR. McDONELL:  Just to clarify, you asked is there any other direct compensation?


MR. HIGGIN:  No, no.  Other than the direct which you just stated, is there any other compensation, indirect or otherwise, such as shares or other indirect compensation?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes --


MR. HIGGIN:  Total compensation.


MR. McDONELL:  They would be eligible for, as all management employees are, for our employee share offering program, our ESOP program.  It's voluntary contribution.


But they would also be eligible for our new defined contribution pension plan and our personal choice health and dental benefits.


MR. HIGGIN:  All right.  So then in doing the studies that you are doing, such as the Mercer study now, do you include those components into "TC", total compensation?


MR. McDONELL:  Under the Mercer total compensation study?


MR. HIGGIN:  Whatever -- well, yes, that would be as an example.


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, we would.


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Coming on now just a couple of follow-up questions then about that Mercer report, and I would like to go into this by looking at --


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Higgin, are you referring to the Mercer report that hasn't been placed on the record in this proceeding, because it's still under development?


MR. HIGGIN:  I am referring to your response to my queries about that report, which is in an interrogatory which is IR, tab 11, schedule 30, that I asked about and then was referred to also the Board Staff's interrogatory which is tab 1, schedule 130.


MR. NETTLETON:  Let us get the IRs up first, sir.


MR. HIGGIN:  So then in part (b), you referred us to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 130, which is a Board Staff interrogatory response, and specifically to part (c).


MR. NETTLETON:  Right, and you will see in the answer to part (c) it says:

 "The total compensation study was awarded to Mercer in August of 2016 and an interim report is due November 3rd, 2016.  And the final report is due December 12th, 2016."


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  So none of that information, given those dates, is available today.


MR. HIGGIN:  No, that's not my question.  My question is very straightforward.  When it is available, would Hydro One be willing to provide that information in this proceeding?


MR. NETTLETON:  I guess it depends on when this proceeding is going to take place, Mr. Higgin, because we don't have a hearing date yet.


MR. HIGGIN:  Correct.


MR. NETTLETON:  So if the hearing, for example, Mr. Higgin, took place at the end of October, how could we put something on the record that wasn't available until December 12th?


MR. HIGGIN:  But on the other hand, if it was in November and you had the interim report, then it would be available.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, I think the best thing we can do, Mr. Higgin, is wait and see.


MR. HIGGIN:  Good.  That's the response that I expected and we will ask inquiries about it, the status and so on in the hearing when we get to that.  Thank you.


So I think those are my questions on this panel and this area of compensation.


Thank you, Ms. Helt, and over to the next person.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Higgin.  Board Staff has about ten minutes, so I am going to turn it over Mr. Thiessen.

Questions by Mr. Thiessen:


MR. THIESSEN:  Good morning, panel.  I want to start with a clarification of an undertaking from yesterday, and that is TCJ1.9, where you undertook to update a couple of tables at Exhibit C2, tab 2, schedule 1; they were O&M tables.


And Mr. Garner, I think, asked you to update these tables for 2017 and 2018 and any changes you had made in your application.


I just wanted to clarify whether that update would also include changes to the bridge year.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thiessen, can you just help us understand how that would affect the bridge year.


MR. THIESSEN:  Well, I am asking this from the perspective that we are three-quarters of the way through the bridge year.  Things have happened in your operations throughout the year that may change your bridge year forecast.


MR. JODOIN:  I can address that question.  In response to I 1, 109, there was a Board question regarding has any information come forward, and embedded in that question was the 2016 bridge year.


MR. THIESSEN:  Right.


MR. JODOIN:  In that response, we included the pension update for OM&A that was further updated for the test years, as we mentioned yesterday.  So that IR should cover off the changes that we expect to our 2016 bridge year.  So the answer remains consistent.


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, thank you.  Secondly, I am looking at an interrogatory right now, which is AMPCO number 52.  It has to do with external contractors in the capital program, and I am not sure whether this would be a panel 1 question or a panel 2 question.


MR. HUBERT:  It's likely a panel 2 question, but I would point out that the execution of work, none of the witnesses in panel 2 are involved in the execution area, which is mostly our engineering construction services group.  So panel 2 will have to assess whether they are actually qualified to answer that as well.


MR. THIESSEN:  All right, well, actually, and this relates to another interrogatory which I have pulled up, which is School Energy Coalition number 63, which is a similar question about external contracting accepted deals with O&M.  So I would imagine that you would be able to speak to that?  Or this panel would speak to that?


MR. HUBERT:  That would also fall into the same description --


MR. THIESSEN:  Yeah?


MR. HUBERT:  -- I gave earlier, that potentially panel 2, but because that is execution of work, I don't think any of their experts may be able to answer that.


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, thank you.


Now I have a number of human-resource questions that Mr. -- O'Donnell?


MR. McDONELL:  McDonell.


MR. THIESSEN:  -- McDonell would be able to answer, hopefully.


MR. McDONELL:  Hopefully.


MR. THIESSEN:  And first I would like to refer to Board Staff interrogatory 122, which is tab 3, Schedule 3 of the interrogatory responses.  And in that question, it is a question about corporate management costs and how they have increased, and in the response Hydro One goes into how you're changing compensation structures, long-term incentive plan, short-term incentive plan, employee stock options, changes to maximize the value of corporate change initiatives.


And my question related to that is that, can you tell me how management and other compensation has been aligned with performance expectations and corporate goals?  Can you provide a bit more detail on that part of the answer?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I can help you out with that once I get my drink of water.


Well, I guess a couple things.  For our management employees we have a real bias for pay for performance, so we don't have across-the-board economic increases.  Any pay increases will be the result of performance and performance against peers.  Under our short-term incentive plan there is both a team component and an individual component regarding performance.


So any STIP awards will be based upon the overall corporate or team results, which is assessed against a balanced scorecard.  And individual performance will be measured against three or four goals typically that an employee will put in their performance contract, which is aligned with the overall corporate goals of the organization.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


As I look at the interrogatory response, which was referred to by Mr. Higgin, which was tab 11, Schedule 23, on page 2 he referred to a table which is entitled "compensation mix".  And that has the compensation mix for the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer.


MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.


MR. THIESSEN:  Would other management-level employees have a similar mix between base salary, short-term, and long-term incentive?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, they would.  It would depend upon the level of the organization, but all management employees would have a mix on their short-term incentive, and there would be a mix between corporate results and individual results.  And I think I mentioned yesterday the more senior the role is within the organization the heavier the weighting is towards overall corporate performance.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


And a final question on this:  Are there currently any management incentives based on achieving a certain return on equity?


MR. McDONELL:  Not only -- within the balanced scorecard one of the elements of the scorecard is net income, but there's other parts to the corporate scorecard, so it's not exclusively on return of equity or net income.


MR. THIESSEN:  So not specifically return of equity, but net income is one measure?


MR. McDONELL:  It is.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


Moving on to Staff interrogatory 128, and that is a question about the share grants for PWU and Society employees.  And in that question -- or in that response you say that the base rate for salary went up by 1 percent, for instance.  And in that sense, also comparing to the inflation numbers you provide in that response, that left some compensation room for the share grants.  Is that a correct interpretation?


MR. McDONELL:  Maybe I could just provide some context about the share grants.  I mean, what we have said in our pre-filed evidence is that the share grant presented an opportunity for a real paradigm shift with our negotiations with our bargaining agents, and that allowed us to negotiate a lower base rate.


Historically it would be very difficult.  Historically the unions wanted to negotiate a guaranteed base rate increase.  And by doing this, it enabled us to achieve some cost savings, in the sense that the base rate being lower does not have an impact on other wage-sensitive items such as on-call and overtime and pension formula, so as a result of that we are able to -- the employee contributions, increases for pension, more than offset the cost of the lump sum and the share grants.


MR. THIESSEN:  Is there a way that you can sort of demonstrate the dollar amounts that were involved?  I mean, when I see a 1 percent pay increase, I mean, that tells me, you know, 1 percent compared to 2 percent inflation rate tells me something.


Can you tell me a monetary value or percentage change value for the share grants?  In the sense of total compensation increase?


MR. McDONELL:  I am not sure if this is answering your questions, but if I could ask you to take a look at the bottom part of that response, where we do put the share grant cost for 2017 and '18 --


MR. THIESSEN:  Yeah, yeah, I noticed --


MR. McDONELL:  -- and the split between PWU and the Society in 2017 and 2018.


MR. THIESSEN:  Yeah, I wonder if that can be converted into a percentage increase.  Like, I know those amounts are the cost of the share grant in two-17, but how does that relate to an overall compensation increase in total, including the base rate plus share grant, what does that come to, in terms of a percentage increase from two-16, for instance?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, we can do that, but I will have to take that as an undertaking.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So we will mark that or note that as Undertaking TCJ2.1.  And Mr. Thiessen, can you just articulate for the record exactly what it is that they are undertaking to provide?


MR. THIESSEN:  To provide a percentage increase in total compensation for PWU and Society staff, including base rate increase, as well as the increase in the share grants.


MS. HELT:  Is that acceptable?  Yes?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.1:  TO PROVIDE A PERCENTAGE INCREASE IN TOTAL COMPENSATION FOR PWU AND SOCIETY STAFF, INCLUDING BASE RATE INCREASE, AS WELL AS THE INCREASE IN THE SHARE GRANTS.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


My next question has to do with Staff Interrogatory No. 127.  And as you look it up I will just say it's about the use of casual and unionized employees.  And the question is about the savings generated by this level of casual labour, and the answer is that there's really no savings with having a level of casual unionized employees.  And so to me, that begs the question:  Why are there no savings?  Why do you have a level of casual employees which don't provide any savings over using a regular unionized employee?  So I was confused by that.


MR. McDONELL:  Well, that was a difficult question to answer, and the reason we answered it this way is because we have contractual obligations to use certain types of employees for work on our construction business.  So we have no other choice, under our jurisdiction obligations with the various trade unions, to use certain types of classifications.  That's why there are no savings.


MR. THIESSEN:  But wouldn't there be savings from the -- I forget what you call that labour pool of unionized employees, the --


MR. McDONELL:  Well, it would be either the hiring hall or building trade --


MR. THIESSEN:  Yes, hiring hall is what I was thinking about.  Do these employees fit into this hiring hall category?


MR. McDONELL:  On the transmission side of the business, very little.  It is going to be more our building trade unions or our electrical union, CUSW.


MR. THIESSEN:  Because my recollection from past cases for Hydro One was that hiring casual employees are less expensive for Hydro One to use than regular unionized employees.


MR. McDONELL:  Well, they are in the sense that they do not join the Hydro One pension plan, nor do they receive Hydro One health and dental benefits.


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  But I guess your overall answer is that this level of casual unionized employees do not really provide any savings to you.


MR. McDONELL:  Well, they do provide savings in the sense that their compensation model is less expensive, because they don't join the pension plan or don't have benefits.


MR. THIESSEN:  And these are the casual employees? Sorry to interrupt.


MR. McDONELL:  Correct.


MR. THIESSEN:  So there are some savings with casual Employees?


MR. McDONELL:  I guess the reason we wrote it this way is that we have no choice for that type of work.  On our construction side, we have to use those type of employees.


MR. THIESSEN:  Let me just clarify this.  But when you use that type of employee, you are making some sort of savings over regular unionized employees?


MR. McDONELL:  I would agree with that.


MR. THIESSEN:  Would you be able to tell me the percentage reduction in cost for using those employees over a regular unionized employee?


MR. McDONELL:  Well, that would be very difficult calculation.  And it's a little bit of a hypothetical savings as well because, as I've said a couple times, we don't have any choice in who performs that work.


But if you are asking the question -- and maybe you can help me out here.  Are you asking the question if we use regular employers who are entitled to pension and benefits instead of using the casual employees, what that delta is?


MR. THIESSEN:  Yes.


MR. McDONELL:  I think that would be a difficult calculation for us to do.


MR. THIESSEN:  Well, just where I am going with this is that -- is that maybe you would want to expand the pool of casual employees, because they are less expensive for you the use for instance; it's a cost-saving measure.  That's where I am coming from.


MR. McDONELL:  Well, we do use casual employees a fair bit, and we use it to the extent that we can given our collective agreement obligations.


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, thank you.  I will leave it at that.


MR. McDONELL:  Thank you.


MR. THIESSEN:  I have one clarification question going back to Energy Probe number 23, and that is the final paragraph of that response, and the final paragraph deals with total direct compensation for the CEO and CFO.


And so the final sentence talks about position close to the average of four other larger Canadian utilities and is in the fourth quartile of the bottom 30 companies making up the S&P 60 index, and the CFO's total direct compensation is also in the bottom quartile of the S&P 60 index.


I couldn't quite understand clearly what that meant, so I wonder if you could just explain that a little bit more clearly.


MR. McDONELL:  The reference here -- and you can see it if you look at the Hugessen report.  Hugessen looked at a variety of different peer groups, one of which was a primary peer group made up of eight companies, four being large utilities and the rest being pipeline organizations.  So that's the primary peer group.


And within that primary peer group, there are four large Canadian utilities.  So that's the reference to the close to the P 50.


Another peer group that Hugessen used was the organizations that make up the S&P TSX 60, and of the bottom thirty of that index, we are positioned in the bottom quartile of the bottom thirty.


MR. THIESSEN:  And why the bottom quartile?  I mean, I assume this is in the Hugessen report, and I am sorry if I don't --


MR. McDONELL:  It is.


MR. THIESSEN:  And so that information is there very clearly.  Okay, well thank you very much.  I will leave it at that.


My next question has to do we efficiency improvements -- and this may be better for panel 2, so let me know. But it has to do with Board Staff 116, which provides examples of efficiency improvements in OM&A.


MR. HUBERT:  I suspect maybe panel 2 -- and again, the same caveats about whether we have the right experts in the room for that.  But if you wish to let us know what the question is, we can at least find out, unless it's a clarification that any of us can help you with.


MR. THIESSEN:  Well, I would just like an explanation of how these were calculated and, you know -- for instance, in the first column there is a cable vault inspection with cameras, and the efficiency improvement is $35,000 each year for three years.


I am just curious whether there is an aspect of double counting in that, so that's one place that I am going. And I would also like to compare the response in Board Staff 116 to Consumers Council of Canada number 9, which similarly talks about efficiency improvements.  And I just want to know whether these -- both responses intersect in some way, because the Consumer's Council of Canada response number 9 talks about capital and O&M savings for the initiatives that they have listed – that you have listed under number 9 and how that compares to Board Staff 116.


MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  So, Mr. Thiessen, I think the first question you asked to me is truly a clarification of the table here.


MR. THIESSEN:  Yes.


MR. HUBERT:  And I am going to undertake to seek that clarification about your question regarding how they were calculated, and specifically whether there is double counting from year to year. I am willing to offer an undertaking for that.


MR. THIESSEN:  We will make that an undertaking.


MS. HELT:  TCJ2.2.


MR. THIESSEN:  And that's an undertaking to clarify the response to interrogatory -- Board Staff interrogatory 116, in terms of double counting in the forecast period.


MR. HUBERT:  The potential for it.


MS. HELT:  Possible, yeah.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.2:  TO CLARIFY THE RESPONSE TO BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY 116 IN TERMS OF THE POTENTIAL FOR DOUBLE COUNTING IN THE FORECAST PERIOD


MR. HUBERT:  And regarding the alignment with the response to the CCC question, I would like to propose that undertaking has already been offered to Ms. Girvan in terms --


MR. THIESSEN:  You're saying that undertaking was offered yesterday.


MR. HUBERT:  I believe it was, which was to look at the list of the 6 and $9 million in savings, I believe, and to provide additional examples, if appropriate.  I am sure I am not wording the undertake exactly.


MR. THIESSEN:  My concern was comparing the two, that response with the Board Staff response.


MR. HUBERT:  We will check the evidence to see if there is anything that we can offer in addition to that.  At this point, I don't know if there is.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  That's fine, the undertaking then will reflect that.


MR. THIESSEN:  I have a final couple of questions on generic overall issues for Hydro One, and one has to do with corporate government and the governance changes that took place for Hydro One in the last year or so.


In Board Staff Number 1, we had asked you to provide the impacts of change in the ownership and corporate structure for Hydro One, including governance issues.  And as a follow-up to that response that you gave, I was wondering whether governance changes have specifically affected how you have phrased your application or how you have prepared your application in this case?


MR. HUBERT:  I am afraid I find that a very general question.  So we have had the application prepared in light of the new vision that Mr. Schmidt outlined in presentation day, in line with the corporate objectives.  All of those are tied to governance.  So I think I would need a little more specificity to your question to help -- to be helpful.


MR. THIESSEN:  Well, I guess I am getting at, has your application changed this year from other years because of the corporate government (sic) change?


MR. HUBERT:  I really don't think I am able to answer that general question.


MR. THIESSEN:  All right.


MR. HUBERT:  All I can say is our application reflects the new management and the new board of the company with a new commercial orientation of the company, which is customer focus, focus on performance, and the productivity and efficiency focus that's been outlined by Mr. Schmidt.


So I suppose you could say that that has shaped our application.  I am sorry if I can't be more helpful than that.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  Board Staff asked in Interrogatory Number 2 -- we asked for you to address a number of general areas of concern that were raised in the auditor general's report in two-15.  And you did provide a comprehensive answer to our questions, and I appreciate that.


But in AMPCO IR Number 2, AMPCO specifically asked about the 17 recommendations that were included in that report.  And in your response to that IR you referred AMPCO to the response to the Board Staff IR, which was a much more general IR.


And I was wondering whether you could undertake to actually provide a response to each of the 17 recommendations as asked for by AMPCO in Number 2.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thiessen, that is, I think, in the area of panel 2, given the nature of the 17 items that are listed.  And I think that, again, it's probably best to have a discussion with that panel to see what we can do there.


MR. THIESSEN:  I understand.  And it's also nice that panel 2 has now been alerted.  They can look at those 17 recommendations and have a better answer.


One other question that may be a panel 2 question, but it has to do with key performance indicators, so I would manage that be panel 2.


MR. HUBERT:  It is panel 2.  I think you may have the pleasure of dealing with me on that one anyway, so...


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  I will hold that for panel 2.


MR. HUBERT:  Unless you would like to alert me.


MR. THIESSEN:  Yeah, well, consider yourself alerted.


Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.


I believe then that concludes the questions for panel 1.  Thank you very much.


We will take a short break now until 11:00, and we will come back with panel 2.

--- Recess taken at 10:44 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:09 a.m.
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MS. HELT:  Welcome back, panel 2.  Thank you for accommodating our schedules for the various parties to be able to ask their questions of you.


We are going to start with Board Staff's consultant, and I am going to turn it over to Chris, so he can introduce himself and ask questions.

Questions by Mr. Oakley:


MR. OAKLEY:  Good morning panel.  I am Chris Oakley, and I am a principal with Midgard consulting.


I have some questions grouped by theme, so we might bounce around a little bit.  I will try and give you a heads-up on the IRs we are going after here.  The support Staff is doing great on this so far.


I would like to start with Staff 106, and this IR was pointing out sort of the much higher forecast for the 2017/2018, or the planned expenditures were much higher than was forecast in the last hearing or the last application, and especially in the sustaining capital area.


And there was -- in the response to this IR, Hydro One mentioned four areas which supported that delta.  And I was wondering if it's possible to attribute sort of a proportion of the delta to each of those areas.  This is customer preference, reliability risk model, the Darlington shutdown, and some new information on insulator replacements and tower coding.


And if you don't have an accurate, you know, number, could you sort of give us a range or hand waving on it?


MR. PENSTONE:  So just so I am clear on your question, are you asking us to basically identify or link the extent to which these investments mitigate risk to particular business objectives?


MR. OAKLEY:  Well, in the response, there was those four areas I mentioned, which were sort of justifying why the big change from last -- because when you did your filing in 2014, you obviously had looked forward and said, you know, given the programs and what we are trying to achieve here, this makes sense and now we are coming in with like 30 percent increases on those.


So it's substantial enough that it's really interesting to know what's driving that; it's not sort of a minor tweak or anything.  I'm just wondering of those areas, like is customer preference sort of driving 10 percent of the change, or 25 percent.  And I understand this isn't science we are asking for, just indicative kind of information about these.


MR. PENSTONE:  Before C.K. gives you detailed explanations, the predominant driver behind the increase in overall sustainment capital is related to investments in our lines areas.  It was precipitated by new information that has been received or obtained since the previous filing.


In particular, the insulator replacement program, we are suggesting, needs to be undertaken now, promptly, due to the public health and safety concerns and also the reliability concerns.


An additional consideration to undertaking this work is of course unreliability affects our customers and in our customer consultations, our customers made it clear to us that they valued reliability.  They did not want it to be undermined and they didn't want the reliability risk to increase.  So that was a significant driver behind the insulator replacements.


In terms of the conductor replacements, also in the lines – a line item, that's all been prompted by two factors.  One is the age of the assets, but more importantly, the results of test results that we have got that have confirmed that a considerable amount of conductor is at its end of life and needs to be replaced.


The age of the asset is prompting us to undertake more testing to validate whether there is additional conductor that needs to be replaced in the short term or longer terms.


In terms of the benefits and outcomes of replacing conductor, again reliability, again customer satisfaction, and also there is an element of public health and safety as well.


The third key driver in our lines program relates to our proposal to increase the pace and extent to which we want to undertake tower coding, and that's triggered by long-term cost effectiveness.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.  So I guess the summary is that these are all really intertwined and it's not really easy to say, you know, this much is due to that and this much is due to this.


I mean, we can obviously see the budgets for the conductor and tower and insulator replacement programs, so I have some sense of what that looks like, the step change in those.  Okay, well, thank you; that was helpful.


I am sensitive, given our discussion this morning and the observations of Mr. Nettleton, and I don't want to give you big lists of things to provide.  But there are some things that would really be helpful to have some more information to clarify and understand again what all of these drivers are.  You know, I can try and back out some of those last three items we talked about, the conductors, the towers and the insulators.


Did you have a list of projects that built up the 2017 and 2018 budget or forecast when you did your last filing?  I assume there was at least a notional project list with that.


MR. NETTLETON:  So just to confirm, you are speaking of the items that gave rise to the forecast in the 20140140?


MR. OAKLEY:  Right, and I am not asking for that list right now.  There was a list, though, it wasn't just sort of -- or was it in fact just an envelope and you just kind of said, well, we did this that time and we will probably do a little bit more next time?  Was it bottom up as opposed to top down?


MS. LEE:  Sorry, I believer there was a list of material capital investments that was filed.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  If that was filed, then I guess we can pull that up.


We're interested just to see if there has been a real change in especially the substation projects.  Because of the integrated project approach, what we are seeing is pretty much everything is gravitating towards integrated projects, and there are very few of the kind of discrete asset replacements anymore.


And we are trying to get a sense of how much integrated projects are actually costing, because part of integrated projects, or the justification for them is it's a more efficient way to do the projects, and I kind of understand the rationale.


But we are just wondering in real life what does that turn into.  Does taking, you know, individual discrete transformer and breaker and those sorts of replacements and then grouping them together turn into a much larger capital program.  And I wonder if it's possible to compare -- you know, there were transformer replacements scheduled in stations X, Y, Z.  Now those are integrated projects.  What is the overall impact on the budget of these integrated projects.


And I am not sure how to do this without kind of lining both sets of projects up and saying it looked like this before, it looks like this now.


MR. PENSTONE:  So before Mr. Ng is going to give you some more details about the request that you have made, I would just like to point out to Board Staff and other intervenors that the integrated projects are not only designed to reduce the overall cost of a project, but also, frankly, it has customer benefits as well, in the sense that if we do these -- undertake these projects once, we are able to maximize the amount of work that we can do under a particular outage.


So in terms of outage efficiency -- and that's important to our customers, because as we take equipment out of service it does expose them to higher risks of interruption.  Also, in order to take equipment out of service, it generally requires a considerable amount of negotiation with affected customers.


So it's not only in terms of the capital efficiencies of undertaking the work as a bundled exercise, but another key consideration behind this approach is to mitigate or manage the consequences to our customers as well.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.


MR. NG:  The one extra point that I want to make is the sustaining program is getting larger because of asset need.  In the past there was smaller amount of asset that we need to deal with; therefore, the total spent in that area were at a lower level.


Going forward, we are anticipating a larger sustainment need.  By that alone, the program, the capital dollar will increase.  It is not as a result of station-centric or integrated investment.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.


This is kind of still sticking with 106, but again, customer preference was stated as, again, one of the drivers, and you have reiterated that a couple of times here.


Is a lot of that customer preference based upon your most recent customer engagement sessions, I think, which happened in late winter or early spring this year?


MR. PENSTONE:  So Mr. McLachlan will elaborate further about the outcomes of the formal customer consultations.  I can express the fact that customers always and have always been involved and engaged whenever we are planning to take equipment out of service that may affect them.


So it is not news to us that customers are concerned whenever we have planned outages, and our operating centre works closely with customers to schedule those outages in a fashion that minimizes customer impact.


So this -- we were aware of this as an ongoing operational challenge.  However, during the formal consultations this was also reinforced, and I will let Mr. McLachlan follow up.


MR. McLachlan:  Yeah, as submitted in this rate application, underneath our customer preference and needs summary, customers clearly indicated to us that any deterioration of the current reliability level in particular in regards to frequency of interruptions was a top need and preference as identified by them.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.


When you were testing customers for that, was there any indication that there would be cost consequences?  And again, I am thinking not just -- this isn't just sort of marginal, but we are talking some pretty big investment deltas here.


Were they aware that -- you know, there is a cost for everything you ask for, obviously.  Was that part of the outreach to say, Okay, we hear you.  Understand that this comes at a cost.


MR. PENSTONE:  So the short answer to that is yes.  Through the formal customer consultations -- and I will always use the term "formal" if you don't mind, as it relates to those consultations, because we regularly interact with customers in many ways and fashions and on many different issues.


But in the formal consultations we provided to the customers illustrative scenarios that indicated, here are the rate impacts of each of those scenarios, and here is relatively the impact of expenditures related to the residual reliability risk.


So this is -- what's just been posted on the screen is one of the slides that was actually used in the consultations which summarizes the information.  Now, Mr. McLachlan was -- presented this information, and I will pass it to him.


MR. McLachlan:  I guess I would just ask for a little bit of clarity from the intervenor.  What is it that exactly you are asking us to clarify here?


MR. OAKLEY:  Well, just, I think you are sort of providing this -- or this explanation now as, you know, was it quantified, you know, and if you want this sort of reliability, you know, slightly deteriorating it will probably cost this much, if you want us to maintain it will probably cost that much, and, you know, I mean, as a percentage of rates or as a total budget or that sort of a thing and...


MR. McLachlan:  Yeah, and consistent with this line that's presented here as part of the transmission customer consultations, these were three illustrative scenarios that we presented to our customers this spring.  They were not fixed plans.  We did not have a plan at the time.  And they were three scenarios on, I will say, on a point scale that to Mr. Penstone's comments when you look at the expected outcomes this tied the three key outcomes that customers were quite interested in hearing about when we did this presentation, which is the impact based on the scenario to the reliability risk, whether it increases, it decreases, or stays the same, the impact to the frequency and duration of the interruptions, the actual reliability performance, and then the resultant rate impact change.


So these were illustrative scenarios to be able to get some input from our customers on their needs and preferences, and they could choose to comment if they wanted to.  There was no obligation for them to have to comment.  But a quite comprehensive study is submitted in the evidence underneath the Ipsos-Reid report, and I would direct the intervenor there to provide any more detail.


MR. HUBERT:  Let me just -- I will give you the reference.  That's --


MS. HELT:  Yeah.


MR. HUBERT:  -- Exhibit B1, tab 2, Schedule 1, and the Ipsos report is included in there, and on page 25 of that report, amongst some other references, are the three scenarios that we have filed.  Each one comes with its own level of capital expenditures, and also attached to that are the proposed rate increases.


So that confirms Mr. McLachlan's answer.


MS. HELT:  If I can just clarify then for the record, this slide that is now on the screen, entitled "overview of three potential scenarios", you just identified the source for that.


MR. HUBERT:  Actually, the page 25 that I referred to is the same material in a slightly different format, and --


MS. HELT:  So I just want to make sure we have it correct for the record what the witnesses have been referring to, so if you can give me the...


MR. HUBERT:  Just give us a moment.


MS. LEE:  So the exact exhibit reference is Exhibit B1, tab 2, Schedule 2, attachment 2, and I believe it's slide 23 of that presentation deck.


MS. HELT:  Thank you very much.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.


We will get back to the reliability assessment part of this a little bit later, because I want some -- I am hoping to get some clarification on some of those reliability metrics as well.


But I guess just as an overview, so Hydro One has recently as part of this evidence submitted that it's top quartile performer in reliability compared to the CEA peers.  And the level of the delta again is where the concern is -- coming from is, you know, with a much lower level of capital spend you have been top quartile performer, and many of your trends are still improving, so we are just trying to understand the driver behind this much of a step change in spend, in capital spend, given that, and, you know, I take under advisement, yes, there has been some new information, obviously some events have happened, and you are aware of that, but it just -- it is a very big delta, is all, and we are going to try and just probe a few more of those areas a little bit just to try and clarify.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Oakley, I am just wondering, just to be helping the witnesses here, is there a particular cross reference or exhibit that you are referring to?


MR. OAKLEY:  This is all 106.  I am just trying to make sure I have cleared off the clarifications I was looking for, and I think we have pretty well gone through the things I wanted to clarify about 106.


I was wondering if we could go to Staff -- I have got two references here.  I know we can't look at them the same time but 21(b) and 22(f).


So when you do your reliability risk calculations, I just want to confirm that the projects that are used in that assume that the oldest or the worst conditioned assets are retired.  But that's not necessarily the projects that will actually be done, or those are not the assets that will necessarily be retired; is that true?


MR. NG:  That is correct.  In terms of the reliability risk model, it is the -- this is the first time that we are introducing it; it is taking baby steps.  We make an assumption that the oldest asset will be retired, will be replaced.


MR. OAKLEY:  And that reliability change, or the delta that you are projecting which is either -- I think in the evidence you've said, you know, if we don't do this program, here is the decrease in reliability or the increase in non-reliability as it were, and if we do the capital program, there will be a slight improvement.


I believe that's the way it was put.


MR. PENSTONE:  Just to clarify the understanding,  what we have stated is here is the difference in reliability risk as opposed to a forecast of how our SAIDI performance would change.


The actual reliability is dependent on a number of factors.  The factors that we can control is basically the performance of our assets.  The notion of the reliability risk was introduced because in a number of cases, reliability, as it's typically been measured, has remained stable.  But it's remained stable essentially because of the level of redundancy that exists in our system.  The actual performance of the assets which contribute to that redundancy is the consideration behind the reliability -- the notion of reliability risk.


The concept is the lights haven't gone out because of the inherent network designs, but the asset performance is changing.  And if we don't make timely investments, we are not in a position to declare that there will be a sudden change in reliability, but certainly we are in a position to offer here is how reliability may change, and that's the notion of reliability risk.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  As you recognize, there is a lot hinged upon this reliability advice or forecast, or whatever we are going -- the reliability risk calculations, so it's quite important to try and understand exactly what this is doing and I guess as you've said, I think it's Mr. Ng said, this is your first go at this and so we appreciate that this -- you know, it's a complex system to understand and try and do this sort of projection.


Do you have some idea of the bounds of error around these reliability numbers, or reliability risk numbers?  You know, there is a calculation involved, there are inputs, there are outputs.  Do you have some clarity?


So if you are saying there is going to be a 4 percent increase in reliability risk, or a 27 percent increase if we don't do anything, or I guess a 4 percent decrease if we do something, what's the error bounds around those numbers?  Again, not necessarily in precise terms, but just sort of hand waving, how big is that change?


MR. PENSTONE:  So again I just want to clarify that the notion of reliability risk, it's a relative outlook measure.  So it's not an absolute measure.  We are saying here is the change in reliability risk depending on the levels of investment that we undertake.  So we consider a do-nothing option as a baseline and then calculate what impact it would be if we undertook investments.


So this reliability risk measure or outcome measure is designed to compare different -- I am going to say scenarios of investment planning relative to each other.  It's not an absolute measure.


MR. NG:  I would just like to add one clarification.  The reliability risk model is an outcome measure to gauge the impact of our investment plan of future reliability.


We do not have a specific reliability risk model to aim at; it's relativity.  Here we are at a certain number today.  Once we have undertaken the investment, when the risks go down, we are heading towards the right direction.  That is the intended use of it.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.  Again, when you are using reliability risk, I think as was just clarified, it's sort of an asset-focussed reliability risk; in other words, this is the likelihood of failure of assets, individual assets. But you have system redundancy, so is it doesn't necessarily project your expectation of the reliability risk to a system performance level -- or is that incorrect?


MR. PENSTONE:  The model is not used to predict future SAIDI.


MR. OAKLEY:  Right.  Okay, thank you.  I think that clarifies it.


I would like to discuss a little bit about Staff 20.  I think it's on – well, you have a different PDF page than I do.  I had 46, but --


I just wanted to confirm.  Are the hazard curves based upon retirement for any cause at all, so that's whether it's a planned retirement, a storm retirement, you know, an explosion of a device or that sort of a thing.  The hazard curves incorporate every time an asset is retired for whatever reason it goes out of service?


MR. NG:  That is correct, yes.


MR. OAKLEY:  And yes, so it doesn't -- so if there was a huge ice storm, let's say, that would all go into the hazard curves?  It's just one of the ways assets fail is an ice storm will come through and asset wills fail because of that.


MR. NG:  Yes, that is correct.  So the retirement includes failure where a conductor broke, transformers caught fire, or planned replacement, meaning that the asset itself hasn't failed catastrophically, but there would have been a detailed assessment done to verify that the asset was at end of life and we planned to have it removed from the system, or retired from the system.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  I just wanted to confirm -- I think this is explicit in your evidence, but Hydro One doesn't replace assets based solely upon age.  There is always another overriding condition that's considered before an asset is retired.


You wouldn't just say conductor is 70 years old, so we are going to replace it at this point.  It's typically driven by other factors, is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  And those other factors are described in our description of our asset risk assessment process that's included in the evidence.


MR. OAKLEY:  Just one -- I guess this is related to Staff 67 (b).  And just given the pace of capital expenditures that are projected because of assets that are in poor condition or obsolete, when Hydro One was looking at the pace of this accelerated program or these various accelerated programs, was there any concern about creating a demographic bulge, if you know what I mean.  You are going to have a lot of really new assets now at a much higher pace than has sort of happened over the past.  Is there a concern about that demographic bulge going forward?


MR. PENSTONE:  We are, frankly, not concerned about demographic bulges created by new assets.  Our concerns are about upcoming demographic bulges of our existing assets.



MR. OAKLEY:  So this is demographic bulge.  You are addressing now past demographic bulges that are now resulting in assets that are quite deteriorated, if I am to understand that.


MR. PENSTONE:  So to be clear, when we talk about demographics, this is done on a fleet-wide basis.  As indicated in our evidence, age is only one, and is not the solitary consideration in replacing assets.  However, the demographics represent a reasonable forecast or expectation of future investment requirements.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Oakley, one of the things that might help is that topic is actually something that is addressed in the evidence in this application.  We are scrambling to find the exhibit where it might be found, but --


MR. OAKLEY:  You may be thinking of revised Figure 5.  There was a Figure 5 that would have been tab 1, I think, of the original filing.  I could find it as well if I looked around, I think.


MR. NG:  That Figure 5 is in Schedule B1, tab 2, Schedule 4.


MS. HELT:  I think we have what we need with respect to that question.


MR. NETTLETON:  It would just be helpful when you are asking questions on a particular topic if you have a particular exhibit in mind it would be helpful to the witnesses to have that information brought up so that they can follow along.


MR. OAKLEY:  Sure.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MR. OAKLEY:  I would like to move along to the topic of metrics.  Staff 91.  And there didn't appear to be a direct measure of cost per unit delivery in the proposed scorecard, and I was wondering if Hydro One had considered that when it was developing the scorecard, and I am thinking cost per unit on a megawatt hour or megawatt connected basis.  Was that a considered metric and...


MR. HUBERT:  Yes, it was considered.  In fact, when we stakeholdered our initial proposed scorecard with parties, that was one measure that was proposed by some of the parties during the stakeholdering.  The reason we chose not to include that metric is because the actual demand on the system in megawatts or the energy transmitted is a driver for the ultimate size of the system, but in the short-term it is not really a driver for the level of investment that you are doing on a transmission system.


What we wanted to do is reflect in our proposed scorecard the measures of the renewed regulatory framework, the outcomes in there, and specifically the focus here is on productivity and cost-effectiveness.


So we have in our scorecard included, instead of the transmitted energy or peak demand, we, as a substitute for that, used gross fixed asset, and that is, in our mind, a better reflection of the size of the system and the driver for the investment, both capital and OM&A.


As a result we have included productivity measures that capture capital, OM&A, and the combination of the two as a ratio to gross fixed assets.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  So you don't think there is any sort of a measure other than that sort of a gross capital. I mean, obviously the cost consequences to customers are partly related to the gross capital, so it's a bit of a loop that you can get into that way, and it's why the question was, if you could measure it against connected megawatts or that sort of a thing.


I mean, the trends should be -- I would think the trends could be followed; right?


MR. HUBERT:  Perhaps, but given the other factors that could affect that metric, for example economic growth in the province, conservation, we felt that that was not the most direct measure.  However, instead, because you are quite correct, no metric can be taken completely in isolation of any of the other ones, you will note in our evidence we derived tier 2 and tier 3 metrics as supporting measures to the metrics we proposed in our scorecard, and there we actually looked at unit costs at a work program level and at productivity in terms of work program accomplishments, and in light of the new regulatory frameworks focused on outcomes we believe that is really what we should be measuring.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.


If we could go to Staff 28 (a)-I.  And if I could just clarify, I wanted to confirm that Hydro One develops actual, what I would think of as a business case for its planned capital investments after the capital budget envelope has been approved; is that the way that sequence works?  The ISDs, obviously, are a very small summary of, here is the project, these are the drivers.  It's not what I would call a classical business case, looking at that overall project.


So could you confirm -- so the actual, what I would call a business case, would be something that you would submit for approval internally to management after the approval process has happened.


MR. PENSTONE:  We develop business cases for distinct projects.  So, for example, you mentioned earlier station-centric refurbishments.  There would be business cases for those, what we regard as a distinct project.  However, we also have programs which are unit-based activities that are essentially approved -- I don't want to say -- we would not have a formal business case for those types of activities.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, so -- but let's say the integrated station project, some of which are -- you know, they are fairly substantial investments, some of them.  Those business cases aren't available at this point to look at, though; is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  So we haven't filed those business cases; that's correct.  But we have provided ISDs that describe those investments.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.


If we could look up IR -- or this is IRR O-93, Staff O-93-B.  I'm just trying to understand the sequencing of the process for optimizing the asset portfolio -- or the project portfolio.


Hydro One has advanced several activities to enter the project definition stage, including additional engineering, to minimize the need for assumptions during the estimating phase.


Could you describe the timing of that additional engineering in relation to specific steps in the asset risk assessment process, or if it's later in the investment selection process?


MR. PENSTONE:  Within a business case, we identify the expected cost of the investment.  Those costs are dependent on engineering to be done.


What we have undertaken is to do more engineering in the project definition stage, to enable us to come up with a better and more accurate estimate of the costs.  That then gets reflected into our business case.


So, in essence, we have modified our processes to do a more in-depth examination through engineering studies to come up with more accurate cost estimates.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  So does that happen again as part of the ARA process, or does that happen -- is it variable?


We are just trying to find out sort of how the process steps go, because there is a lot of process here.


MR. PENSTONE:  Exactly.  So if I were to take you back to the slide that I presented yesterday at the outset of this particular panel, there is a fifth box in the slide and -- in fact I am going to pause and wait for it to be called up.


So the fifth box refers to the actual release or commitment of individual projects.  So for our large station integrated station investment, before we commit that project, we would have estimates developed.  We are now undertaking more activity to come up with a more accurate estimate.


It's not only in terms of additional engineering, but also additional examinations in terms of how the project will also be executed.  And when I say how a project will be executed, it goes back to what are the various stages that will be required and for each stage, what are the necessary outages that will be required to enable the work to be undertaken.  And we want to make sure that those outages are manageable and we'll be able to get the necessary approvals, so they don't have either an adverse impact on customers or the reliability of the bulk power system.


So to answer your question, it's not part of the asset risk assessment, which is done earlier in the investment candidate, the third box.  That's all been done.  The prioritization's been done.  We have identified that these station-centric investments are a priority and will be funded through the capital envelope.


Now we are at the point of actually undertaking the necessary work to commit those projects.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  So if I was to look at where the OEB approval stage was on here, there isn't a defined place obviously because you might have projects in various of these?  Or is there a, you know -- so we have a notionally optimized portfolio, so I would think that a lot of the projects will have gotten to stage four before they show up here in an ISD or -- is that correct?


MR. NG:  So we will have a detailed estimate for projects that are at a mature stage, those which are ready for execution.  There will be a subset of projects that are still undergoing scoping and development.  Those will have an estimate attached with them, however at a lower accuracy.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.  So the projects that we would have seen the ISDs for in this evidence, was there -- I can't recall if there was an accuracy estimate on those. But notionally, those would be at a reasonably early stage of engineering as a rule, or is this...


MR. YOUNG:  In the ISDs that we filed, there is a statement in each of the ISDs referring to the estimate quality of the cost being submitted.


MR. OAKLEY:  I couldn't recall if those were in there or not.  But, yes.  Okay, thank you.


MS. HELT:  Sorry, if I can just interrupt?  I understand or I appreciate that the slides are being pulled up as questions are being asked, and even though they may not be the slides that are referred to by Mr. Oakley asking the questions, the purpose of pulling up the slides is to assist the witnesses in finding the evidence.


So if we are going do that, though, if the witnesses are going to refer to the actual slides to identify them for the purpose of the record -- I appreciate this slide wasn't referred to.  But just going forward, I want to make sure that whatever we do have pulled up that the witness refers to, that the source is just on the record, just for assistance.


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Helt, I think the slide that is currently on the projector right now was the slide that Mr. Penstone had referred to.  This was his opening remarks.


MS. HELT:  There was another slide then; she had changed, so that is all I am saying.


MR. OAKLEY:  And I do appreciate this information being put in that context.  It's helpful in your response, I do appreciate that.


If I can move along to some discussion of some of the substation integrated projects, these will be a bit more specific to the projects and programs as opposed to some of the process discussion.


If we could look at Staff 83 (a)?  We are looking at the four Hamilton TS replacements that are rebuilds, or replacements in some cases.  Are those stations projects being accelerated due to asset risk assessment results?  Did that process weigh heavily upon this?


MR. NG:  These four projects would have gone through the ARA process to determine asset need.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  So the ARA process would say, you know -- because I think they are largely driven by condition.  I know there is some reconfiguration going on as well, but largely they are driven by need.  So the ARA process would have put these forward as important candidate projects to go in the portfolio?


MR. NG:  Correct.


MR. OAKLEY:  All right.  Could you confirm -- I think that it could be in this response, actually, that Beach TS and Elgin TS had begun -- there was -- the projects had started, I think, in Q2-2015 for Beach and Q3-2015 for Elgin.  Would that be engineering work had started, I would assume, or...


MR. NG:  Yes, for Beach and -- we have started construction activities.  Elgin, we have released the project for executions, yes.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.


Just a terminology clarification.  Does Hydro One consider poor condition to be worse than degraded condition?  Which of those is the ranking worst case?


MR. NG:  We don't have a ranking between poor or degraded.  In terms of calling it out as in degraded conditions, that means it require attention.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks, but obviously, you know, certain levels of degradation require attention more promptly than other levels, and so I just wanted to see if -- you know, some things are replaced now because it's about to blow up or some things are -- you know, we have got some time, but we should really put this on our priority list to get around to replacing, so you are saying if it says poor or says degraded it's fine.  It's more or less the same thing, which is saying replace now or...


MR. NG:  So in terms of categorizing the state of degradation of an asset, we use a zero to 100 scale under asset analytic condition index.  High score means it is in a poorer condition, low score means it is in a better condition.  The definition of those are -- if the answer is in the high score between 80 to 100, we would describe it as very high-risk asset.


MR. OAKLEY:  And the asset analytics scoring that you are talking about, that actually combines a variety of factors?  That's not just an asset condition factor, that might be others as well, or is that purely asset condition that's driving the asset analytics number?


MR. NG:  They are six risk factor in asset analytic, which are all described in Exhibit B1, Schedule 2, tab 5.


MR. OAKLEY:  Right.  And that includes age and the other parameters, yeah, okay.  Thanks for that.


I guess given that -- so the work on Beach and Elgin started prior to Gage and Kenilworth, and I guess this is a poor and degraded question, so if it's answered by just saying, Look at the asset analytics score, or -- then that's fine.


Were those asset analytics scores provided with those projects in the ISDs, or...


MR. NG:  No, those score are not provided in the ISD.  But specific to Gage, in addition to asset analytic and the ARA assessment, there is also the question about the outlook of future load requirement in that area, which was uncertain until in recent months.


What happened there was, Gage had three -- still has three DESN in the stations, three load-serving stations in this one Gage station.  Our plan in the past would have been going in to do like-for-like replacement, but due to the uncertainty in the steel industry we have taken the step to -- we have made the decision to wait and do a later evaluation to assess if it indeed do need to have three DESN at the same site.


The current investment plan is, no, we do not need to have three DESN at the site.  We are reducing it from three to two.  And that's part of the reason that we are doing the investment today, not last time.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.


MR. PENSTONE:  Could I just clarify one point?  And that is, I would like to ensure that the Board and other intervenors are aware that we don't undertake investments purely as a result of the output of asset analytics.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks, yeah, I appreciate that.  No, I understood the process is more complex than that, and it requires judgment, it looks like, on several stages.


MR. PENSTONE:  Judgment and other factors that are outside of asset analytics.


MR. OAKLEY:  Yes, thank you.


I would like to refer to AMPCO number 10.  And just, there are a lot of standards which Hydro One has changed, obviously, since, I think it's 2014, and there are a bunch more scheduled for the end of this year, I think it was 242 from Jan. 2014 to June 30th, 2016, and another 37 by the end of 2016.


And just given the pace of those standards changes, does that impact your decision to, you know, rebuild substations, as opposed to replace individual assets?  It looks like it's a bit of chasing a moving target, because some of these substation builds that one of the justifications is we are trying to achieve, you know, modern standards, but it's pretty expensive to achieve a modern standard if a substation simply needs a transformer and a breaker.


MR. PENSTONE:  When we undertake investments and we are refurbishing a station, we always apply the current standard to the new design of the new station.  And the standard would reflect new requirements, for example, environmental standards would get reflected in the engineering design, new health and safety standards would get reflected in the design of the new station.


So our projects, when we describe the scope, the scope also always includes the requirement that the new facilities meet current standards.


MR. OAKLEY:  Yeah, thanks, I appreciate that.  I am thinking more of, if there are configuration standards that have changed and the decision is made with, you know, assets that are in good shape, that it's worth reconfiguring because it meets a modern standard or a template for what a station would be built like now.  It's not -- I understand that when you replace a transformer you should use your standards, your protections should be put on with modern standards.  Just trying to clarify, does the desire to achieve a standard become a driver in these rebuild projects?


MR. PENSTONE:  So can I clarify, when you say "reconfigure", are you referring to, that the new station may have a different single-line description of it that you -- so for example, when we undertake investments, one of the considerations is, are there opportunities to manage the costs of the refurbishment and the subsequent ongoing costs by reconfiguring the station.  There are examples where we have reduced the number of transformers.  As an example, we have a station that may have had four transformers, the new station will be reduced down to two.


In essence that reconfigures the station, but we have good, valid reasons and justification for that reconfiguration and its purpose is, frankly, to minimize the long-term costs of the refurbished station.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  And just to clarify, what you are saying, I think, is that a decision has been made that a reconfiguration is required because the transformer station is doing something different, or its purpose is modified.  And of course then you would use your modern standard when you are reconfiguring.


MR. PENSTONE:  So I want to be very, very clear about standards because there's a million standards, right?


MR. OAKLEY:  Yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  So there is equipment standards, and we won't talk about equipment standards; we made the comment that they're to be up-to-date.


In terms of the actual configuration of the station, there is some latitude for the planners to change the configuration of the station -- in other words, the actual number of elements within a station -- and how are they connected to enable us to manage the long-term costs of the refurbished station.  And we have taken advantage of the need to refurbish stations to, in a number of instances, reduce the number of elements in the new station.


MR. NG:  I just want to add one clarification to Mr. Penstone's description.


We are there at the stations to deal with a certain asset need.  In this example, we would have transformer in need of replacement, or two transformers in need of replacement.  Then we will consider reconfiguration to make it more efficient.


So there has to be first an asset need reason.  We do not go in to a station where assets are in good condition and start looking at changing the configuration to reduce the footprint.


MR. OAKLEY:  Yes, thanks.  I think you have clarified that.  My question was it is not standards driving this.  You achieve standards when you are going to do it; that was really the point of the question.


MR. NG:  Yes, it's secondary.


MR. OAKLEY:  I would like to refer you to Staff 74 (a).  Is the Lisgar TS still proceeding?


MR. YOUNG:  No, it's not; it's been cancelled.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.  I guess then there is no follow up to that then, thanks.


There are two Staff IRs that are sort of intertwined on this one.  I would like to refer you to -- I guess either of the charts would probably do as an example, but 52 (b).  There is also 62 C2, but they have very similar graphs.  Thanks.


I just wanted to confirm that the outages caused by conductor failures don't seem to be correlated with conductor age or corrosion environment.  Is that what I should take from these graphs?


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Well, thanks. I was wondering if there shouldn't be an age relationship, but this clearly demonstrates that empirically, you are not seeing an age relationship with conductor failures -- or corrosion environment, it looks like.


MR. NG:  Am I hearing a question to explain why is there no correlation between age and failure?


MR. OAKLEY:  No, no, the question isn't why.  It is just simply to confirm that, you know -- I wasn't exactly sure how the interpret these, what I would call scatter plots almost, and I just wanted to know if there was supposed to be a correlation because I don't see one and just wanted to confirm.  It doesn't look like there is one.


MR. NG:  On this chart, there is no correlation between age and failure.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.  If I could move along to 62(c)(i), I just wanted to check.  So there was the 2015 insulator failure which dropped the conductor in a parking lot, I think it was.  Was there any indication prior to 2015 that this vintage of Ohio Brass insulators was problematic?


MR. NG:  This particular vintage of insulator is known to have a cement expansion problem; it is well known by the industry.


Hydro One, we have been tracking the performance of this set of insulators since the '80s, with a testing program to monitor the performance of this insulator.


What we did not know until 2015 is the extent to which they have deteriorated, which adds to the urgency of the need to have them replaced.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks, because that was again what I was wondering.  We see just an immediate step increase in that and again, the industry sort of has been aware of this vintage of Ohio Brass, and I just wanted to wonder why that step increase was happening.  And it looks like that particular incident was the alert or drove the concern, and then the testing followed that.


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thank you.  If we could go to -- talk a little bit about some of the tower coating questions.  Staff 55 (b); I was wondering -- I think there were two numbers given here.  One was 65,000 lifecycle savings for 230 KV lattice structure recoating, and I think this is an average value.  And similarly, 62,000 for 115 KV lattice towers.


Do you have calculations -- I mean, I am sure you have calculations.  But are you able to provide any calculations showing how those were derived?  Like what was the assumptions going into those lifecycle cost values?  What all was considered, and how did you come up with those numbers?


MR. NG:  So you want a calculations example to show how we arrived at those two numbers?


MR. OAKLEY:  Right, like an example of -- whether it's an average tower or, you know, the program you looked at, how did you come up with that sort of a payback on that?


MR. NG:  Yes, we can provide that calculation.


MS. HELT:  And just for clarity, is that for both the 230 KV lattice structure and the 115 KV lattice structure?


MR. OAKLEY:  Sure, that would be great.


MS. HELT:  You can do that?


MR. NG:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So that will be Undertaking No. TCJ2.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.3:  TO PROVIDE CALCULATIONS BEHIND THE TOWER COATING EVALUATIONS


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you. Sort of related to that, there is obviously a pretty dramatic acceleration going on in this tower recoating project, and it's a pretty appreciable piece of the capital budget.


Do you have a business case that justifies that program, as far as the rate of acceleration?  Was there -- what went into the decision to accelerate at that rate?  Clearly, these towers have been around quite a long time. I just wanted to know why suddenly right now, it's time to get with it or move so fast.


MR. NG:  There are two reasons.  Number one is we -- Hydro One and EPRI, Electric Power Research Institute, jointly did a detail study about a year and a half ago to map out the province into different corrosion zone and determine the corrosion rate, also took a look at the tower in the highly corrosive zone to see how -- what is the current conditions.


Based on that, we are able to narrow down the focus area to only a subset of tower that we own that is located in the highly corrosive area to focus our coating attention on.


The other thing that happened is we came to -- we found a particular coating product that makes the coating investment more efficient.  This particular product require minimum surface preparations, and its performance is outstanding, which makes the entire economic attractive.


It is based on these two reasons we have decided to undertake the larger investment in this area.  The other factor is also the fact that timing is right for it right now.  This set of towers are at a point that if we do not coat now they would get into a point where we will be in diminishing return, meaning that they will rust more, they will deteriorate more, they will get to a point where coating becomes not an option.  Then we would will looking at replacement.  Replacement cost would be in and around 250,000 to $350,000 per tower, and that is the cost that we are trying to avoid.


MR. OAKLEY:  And just to clarify, the program that is before us right now is really focused on these high-corrosion environment towers?


MR. NG:  The program for 2017 and '18 are focused in on tower located in highly corrosive area.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  So just, Mr. Oakley, just for your reference and for the transcript, those highly corrosive zones are shown in the evidence at Schedule B1, tab 2, Schedule 6, page 47 of 66.


MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.  I assume that this program, then, has been also subject to the reliability risk program.  Did you look at different rates of recoating and then do calculations, or was this program sort of decided it's going to be done in two years and we are going to just get on to these right now, or did you look at running the reliability risk program for different sort of bundles of doing these?


MR. NG:  Transmission tower are not part of the consideration in the reliability risk model.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  So this was more focused on exactly the asset condition assessment, and it's -- so your latest studies have shown you that these ones need to be recoated now or you are going to miss your opportunity.


MR. NG:  Tower coating investment is based on spending some -- spending a dollar right now to save five bucks later on.  So that is the justification for it.


MR. OAKLEY:  So if -- so what you are saying, I guess, is that if you were to, say, reduce this program by half each year, you would actually lose towers that -- or a significant portion of towers that just couldn't be recoated later.


MR. NG:  It is a question of timing.  The later we can get to those tower, the less attractive it becomes for us to coat.  There will be a point in time where we will not be able to do coating to arrest the deteriorations of the tower.


MR. OAKLEY:  Yeah, thanks.  I am still just trying to understand the rate of -- the pace of this.  I just didn't understand from the evidence why this particular pace was required, and I am still not sure I do, but...


MR. NG:  So it is a window of opportunity.  We have identified in C4 and C5 area there are around 13,000 tower that require coating in the next...


Please bring up Exhibit B1-2-6, page 47.


So under sections 3.3.3, we laid out that there are approximately 13,000 tower that are located in the high corrosion zone.  All these tower would need coating within the next ten years.


The pacing is designed in such a way that we have an ability to get through the entire coating program successfully.  And that is why we propose to perform the coating in the -- we propose to go with the amount of coating investment that we -- they are in the ISD document.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thank you.


That's all my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.


MS. HELT:  Thank you very much.


It's now almost 12:30.  We can take a break now if you'd like.  Yes, everybody is shaking their head.


Okay.  We will come back at 1:30 and we will carry on.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:27 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.


MS. HELT:  All right, if we can get started.  We have quite a lot to do this afternoon.  There are a few intervenors who are coming back after the OPG matter finishes at 2:30, so hopefully we can get through who we have in the room by then, maybe not.


Mr. Elson, if you would like to proceed?

Questions by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  For the record, my name is Kent Elson and I represent Environmental Defence.


Good afternoon, panel.  I am going to be focussing most of my questions on the topic of transmission system energy losses.  And just to give you an idea of where we are coming from, what Environmental Defence is looking at is whether there might be opportunities to save customers money down the road, and bring about other potential  environmental benefits by reducing line losses, especially at the peak when the losses are the highest and the cost of electricity is at the highest.


So we are just looking into whether there is an opportunity for this to factor into investment planning to a greater degree, particularly after Conservation First has been rolled out in the province and whether that might warrant looking at this more going forward.


But before I started my questions, I just wanted to be clear that I am not being, I guess you could say, critical of the application, or the work that the panel has done.  These questions are meant to be forward looking, in terms of what potential other steps could be taken.


So with that proviso, maybe I will start with just some sort of basic technical questions about transmission system energy losses.


In particular, what are the sources of those losses?


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Elson.  The purpose of this conference is to clarify interrogatory responses.  If you are wading into an area that is as general as just a discussion about transmission system losses, I am going to have to suggest that that's out of scope for this proceeding, and we need to get it narrowed to a particular interrogatory response or piece of evidence in this record that you are seeking clarification on.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, I am going to be asking questions that do relate to clarifications of the interrogatories we have put forward.  But I don't agree that the only purpose of a technical conference is to speak only to interrogatories.


And I can read the rule for you, if you'd like; it's rule 25.01.


MR. NETTLETON:  I am not looking at the rules, sir.  I am looking at the procedural orders that have been issued in respect of this.  I am also mindful of the time. I am also mindful of the fact that there are a great number of others that are behind you.


But if you can get right to the questions about the clarifications that you are have, we can move forward far quicker.


MR. ELSON:  Well, I will move directly to my questions, then.


In one of your interrogatory responses, you listed line losses and transformer losses as being the two major sources of transmission system energy losses.  Do I have that understanding right?


MR. NETTLETON:  Which IR are you talking about?


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, I am going to pull this up. But I think what this is doing is significantly slowing down this process, as opposed to speeding it up.


I am trying to have a discussion with your witnesses relating to transmission losses, and I don't think your interjections are making that any faster.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, we have answered a very large number of interrogatories in this process.  If you could just help us with the interrogatory that you are asking questions about, that would be helpful.


MR. ELSON:  I was looking it up; it's ED 4.  Maybe I can start by asking which members of the panel are most familiar with transmission losses from a technical perspective.


MR. YOUNG:  Mr. Elson, I will be answering those questions.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So in response to the this interrogatory, you said that energy losses are largely due to line losses and transformer losses.  And my question is: other than those kinds of losses, what are the other sources?


MR. YOUNG:  Those are the primary sources for electricity losses, essentially anything that has some type of conduction of electricity.


MR. ELSON:  And I guess, you know -- what are the other sources?  What are the secondary sources?


MR. YOUNG:  I am not sure what you mean by secondary Sources.


MR. ELSON:  I guess what I'm getting at --


MR. YOUNG:  Like from a wires perspective, it's largely the conductors and the transformers, because they bring the electrons from the sources to where the loads are.


MR. ELSON:  And in terms of the primary sources being the lines and the transformers, what's the rough proportion between those two in your system as the causes for energy losses?


MR. YOUNG:  Because we don't record transmission losses on conductors versus transmission losses on transformers, we don't have that information.


MR. ELSON:  Are you able to hazard an estimate, in terms of rough proportion?  You know, are we talking 50/50 or are we talking 10/90?


MR. YOUNG:  I don't think I would want to speculate.  Conductor losses are probably the majority.


MR. ELSON:  And conductor losses being transformer related losses, basically?


MR. YOUNG:  No, line losses.


MR. ELSON:  Line losses, okay.  So line losses would be the majority.  But beyond that, you wouldn't want to speculate.


MR. YOUNG:  Not on a particular number, no.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And what about in terms of  geographic location?  Are there areas in the province where there is longer lines or lower voltage lines where you would expect, based on your technical knowledge, that the losses might be higher?


MR. YOUNG:  Losses will be different throughout the province.  As you indicated, it is a function of voltage, it's a function of geography, it's a function of distance. It's also a function of the generation dispatch, the loading patterns, the transactions that are being conducted on the system.


So it's very hard to generalize in that particular way about losses.


MR. ELSON:  So you are not able to identify a geographic region that might be more or less subject to transmission losses?


MR. YOUNG:  No.  As I indicated, we don't record that information.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  The answers that you just gave are a good segue into my next question, which is how transmission losses vary, and I think you mentioned voltage.  Temperature also is a factor?


MR. YOUNG:  No, temperature affects more the ratings.


MR. ELSON:  The ratings?


MR. YOUNG:  Of the conductors themselves, not the losses.


MR. ELSON:  It wouldn't impact the losses?


MR. YOUNG:  No.


MR. ELSON:  I thought losses were worse in the summer, no?


MR. YOUNG:  No, that's only due to loading patterns are higher in the summer.


MR. ELSON:  What about the construction of the transformers, the kind of materials that are used?


MR. YOUNG:  Can you be a little more specific on that question?


MR. ELSON:  I guess another way to ask that question is: is it possible to upgrade transformers to reduce the losses that occur in them.


MR. YOUNG:  I guess anything is technically possible.  I think it would depend on the specific circumstance.


MR. ELSON:  Well, let me go on to a related area, which is ways to reduce losses.  Can you outline for me some of the major ways that Hydro One does that in its investment in equipment?


MR. YOUNG:  Losses at Hydro One with respect to equipment are more of a tertiary consideration.  It's not a primary consideration for the decision of what to invest or what not to invest.


MR. ELSON:  And what about in terms of wires?


MR. YOUNG:  That would be a similar case for the wires as well.  The fundamental driver for the wires is what is the need for the wires, what does it have to serve, what are the reliability levels that are required, and not what are the losses.


MR. ELSON:  So I think you are getting into an area of what consideration is given in making upgrades, and what you are saying is that losses are, I think you said, not a primary consideration?


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  Is that a consideration at all?


MR. YOUNG:  Perhaps, if all other things being equal.  But certainly not a primary or secondary consideration in most cases.


MR. ELSON:  So some of the ways that line losses would be reduced, you know, would an example be having lines that are of a higher voltage?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  And I have also heard of --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Elson, I am going to interrupt this discussion.  You are going to have to, again, bring your questions back to a particular response in the interrogatories that seek clarification.  You are going on having a very broad discussion about transmission system losses with the witnesses.  The witnesses here are not to do anything other than provide clarifications to the responses that they have provided in their interrogatories.


So if you can't bring your questions in line with the interrogatories, I am going to have to instruct the witness not to answer any further questions that you have.


MS. HELT:  If I can just interject, sorry, Mr. Elson.  And as we have discussed, Mr. Elson, it is not only the interrogatory responses.  I appreciate you may be referring to the language that's used in the procedural order, but as also indicated to you, the rule provides that it is interrogatory responses and the application.


That being said, I do agree with your comment, Mr. Elson, if you can tie your questions in and refer the applicant either to a section in the application or to an interrogatory response that you are seeking clarification of or something like that, it might just help facilitate the answers.


MR. ELSON:  Yes, Ms. Helt, I am happy to do so but, again, I don't agree that -- with the premise that you have to tie an interrogatory -- so I -- but with that --


MS. HELT:  I am not saying an interrogatory.  It can be the application as well.  Anything in the evidence.


MR. ELSON:  And with that proviso, you know, I will tie it into the interrogatory that we had just been looking at, which was Interrogatory No. 4, in which we had asked for Hydro One's plans to reduce transmission energy losses and, under item C, describe the list of actions that Hydro One could take but is not taking to reduce transmission energy losses.


And so my questions relate in the most part to part (c), which is the kinds of steps that could be taken to reduce losses.  And I think we will get to move through this much faster if your witnesses, which appear to have a lot of knowledge on this topic, are able to answer my questions so that we can move forward.


MR. YOUNG:  Before I respond any further, could we just get the correct interrogatory up on the screen, please.  It's Exhibit I, tab 4, Schedule 4.


MR. ELSON:  I think it would be Exhibit I, tab 5, Schedule 4, page 1.  Yeah, there it is.


MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Elson, my understanding of the response is that it refers to the response found in part (b), and in part (b) it says:

"Hydro One does not have specific plans to reduce transmission energy losses."


That is the statement you are seeking clarification on


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, if you wouldn't mind, I have some questions for your witnesses.  I have tied it to this interrogatory, and if you would allow me to ask the questions then we can proceed.


I don't see the point in debating the specific answers to this interrogatory any further.  I mean, we are wasting time here.  I don't have that many questions for your panel members.  What I am looking for is more information further to the question that we asked in number C here, which asked for a list of the actions that Hydro One could take but will not be taking to reduce its transmission energy losses.


So the questions that I am asking relate to the kinds of steps that a transmission company could take to reduce losses.  That's a simple question.  I am trying to pursue it.  We could have finished this line of questioning had we not had to go through this rigmarole.


MR. NETTLETON:  My point of raising this is to help the witnesses specifically with the response that you are seeking clarification on, and particularly the statement that reads that Hydro One does not have specific plans to reduce transmission energy losses.  That's all.  That's the thing that you are seeking clarification on.


MR. ELSON:  I am not seeking clarification about the answer to (b), I am seeking clarification on the answer to C, and Mr. Nettleton, if you would allow me to ask the question to your witness I will proceed -- actually, I will proceed unless you are going to object to a question.


MR. NETTLETON:  Until I hear the question, I won't object.


MR. ELSON:  Then I will proceed to my question.  Perhaps the best way to move forward with this would be to ask about, you know, potential ways that you can reduce losses, and I think that's where we left off, but we have had a bit of an interjection.  I think we had been discussing about higher voltage lines, and you were confirming whether that is one way that losses are reduced.


MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.


MR. ELSON:  I also understand that there may be some operational measures that can be used to reduce line losses; is that fair to say?


MR. YOUNG:  I think you have to be more specific.  I am not particularly aware of any specific operational procedure to reduce line losses.


MR. ELSON:  What about procedures relating to not actually replacing lines so that they are of a higher voltage but running them at a higher voltage?  Are you aware of that as sort of an over-clocking of your lines to reduce line losses?


MR. YOUNG:  Our lines are rated for a particular operational voltage.  We don't exceed that, if that's what you are suggesting.


MR. ELSON:  And so that's not something that you are aware of that's being a way to address line losses.


MR. YOUNG:  To exceed the voltage capability of our lines?


MR. ELSON:  To run your lines at a higher voltage when, of course, safety allows it.  I believe Mr. Penstone has a comment.


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. ELSON:  Or he is just moving, that's all.


MR. YOUNG:  In the course of normal system operations the voltage will vary -- can vary significantly depending again on what's happening with the system, what are the loading patterns, what is the generation dispatch, and so the voltage can fluctuate within its design range.  So I am not sure that I completely understand your question, sir.


MR. ELSON:  If a line is operating at the middle of that range, could you not increase the voltage of that line to operate closer to the top of that range so as to address line losses?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. YOUNG:  Could you repeat the question?  Sorry about that.


MR. ELSON:  And if this is too technical and you don't know the answer, that's fine.  But my question is whether one way of reducing transmission system losses is to operate a line at a higher level of voltage within its range of acceptable voltages.


MR. YOUNG:  Generically that is a possibility.


MR. ELSON:  Is another way to address line losses to replace transformers or other physical equipment with more efficient versions of the same thing?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  And in terms of, you know, capital improvements or operational measures -- this is going to be a broad question -- are there any other capital improvements or operational measures that come to mind that you could use to reduce transmission system losses?

MR. YOUNG:  Not that I can think of.


MR. ELSON:  What about clipping demand peaks with demand response?  Would that address line losses?


MR. NETTLETON:  How would you expect a transmission company to clip demand?


MR. ELSON:  Are you objecting to the question, Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  I am just trying to understand it.


MR. ELSON:  I am asking if clipping the demand, my understanding is the answer --


MR. NETTLETON:  Your question is focussed on "please list", and describe all actions that Hydro One could take.  That's the question that you asked.  Those are the questions that I am not objecting to.  But your question is needing clarification.  How would you expect Hydro One to clip demand?


MR. ELSON:  It would be demand response programs that would clip demand.  Mr. Nettleton, I don't believe that my question is irrelevant or outside of the proper question for a technical conference.


If you are refusing to allow your witness to answer, then your witness won't answer, but --


MR. NETTLETON:  I am asking you to clarify how in your mind you would see Hydro One clip demand.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, this isn't an exercise of you asking me questions.  I have asked a question.  If you are going to say that it's irrelevant, then why don't you say it and it's a refusal and we can move on.


MR. NETTLETON:  It's irrelevant and let's move on.


MR. ELSON:  I would like to ask you about methods that can be used to calculate total transmission system energy losses.


And I understand that this is a little bit more difficult than one might think and, you know, we are attempting to get some figures in this area from either you on the IESO, and some technical questions might help move that ball along.


And so my first question is what percentage of the province's power does Hydro One transmit, very roughly speaking?


MR. YOUNG:  We responded to that in the interrogatory response Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 2.  We don't compute that information, and we don't have the information to compute that information.


MR. ELSON:  Now, you don't compute transmission energy losses, and I am going to get there.  But my question is what percentage of the province's volume of electricity does Hydro One transmit.


MR. YOUNG:  This is not a measure that we record.  As you know, the system in Ontario is an integrated system that includes not just us, but other transmitters and other market participants which have transmission facilities.


So it is not a number that we compute, so I wouldn't be able to tell you.


MR. ELSON:  When you say this is not a number that we compute, you mean transmission losses?


MR. YOUNG:  Transmission losses nor in terms of -- I think what you are trying to say is how much of the electricity in Ontario does Hydro One transmit.  Well, we don't record that information.


MR. ELSON:  Perhaps you could help me with an estimate.  I mean, my understanding is that Hydro One is an extremely major player in this field and that the number would be over 90, maybe even as high as 99 percent.


Based on your knowledge of the transmission system, you know, roughly speaking, how much of it is through Hydro One?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Elson, the witness has now responded to your question twice.  He said that the information is not recorded.  He is not going to speculate on something he does not know.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, I am not asking your witness to speculate to provide a specific answer.  I have asked him a more general question, which isn't to provide a precise figure, but to provide an estimate based on his knowledge of the transmission system in Ontario, which I believe is a valid question.


MR. NETTLETON:  We are scrambling here, Mr. Elson, to try and give you some help.  The statistic that you may be referring to -- that is, I believe, on the record -- is the percentage of transmission assets that Hydro One owns in the province.


That information is, I believe, on the record.  And I think that the thing that we are struggling with here, though, is like what Mr. Young said.  That doesn't necessarily correspond with the throughput or the amount of electricity that's transmitted through the province.


MR. ELSON:  I don't think Mr. Young actually had a chance to say whether or not that would correspond.  But my question relates, yes, to the throughput.  If Mr. Young tells me that it's impossible for him to provide a rough estimate based on his technical expertise, then I would of course have to move on, Mr. Nettleton.


However, I would appreciate the opportunity of hearing from your witness what is inside and outside his ability to provide such an estimate.


MR. NETTLETON:  I thought I heard Mr. Young say that the information wasn't recorded.  Maybe Mr. Young can confirm whether that's the case or not.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, that's an also what I heard.  And again to repeat, I then followed up with a different question, which wasn't whether there is a precise figure that's recorded, but whether Mr. Young is able to provide an expert based on his technical knowledge of the system.  And you provided an example potentially based on the percentage of transmission assets within a margin of error of, I don't know, 5 percent of, roughly speaking, how much of the throughput goes through Hydro One.


Mr. Young, is that something that you are able to estimate?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Elson, let's not -- let's be clear with our language.  I would ask the witness whether or not he has that number or not, yes or no.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, that's not my question.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, then I am going to refuse, or instruct the witness to refuse the answer the question.  Can we move on, please?


MR. ELSON:  I'd just like to note that there is going to be a refusal motion at least coming out of this, and perhaps other aspects of this technical conference.  And I don't think that this is the way to most effectively move forward with this in an efficient way. But I will move on, Mr. Nettleton.


Mr. Young, the reason I am asking you these questions is because the IESI calculates the total transmission system losses in a year, but doesn't calculate those losses specifically with respect to Hydro One.


And so what we are trying to do is find a way to estimate Hydro One's losses based on the number that the IESO is able to provide, which is the total transmission system losses.


And so I will ask you -- I will ask you this question: If the IESO calculated the total transmission system losses in a year, would you be able to estimate the losses attributable to Hydro One within a range, and subject to provisos as necessary?


MR. YOUNG:  As I said before, we don't have that information to compute for the losses for the Hydro One system.  And I know that the IESO only computes it for the total system and for the total market demand.  They do not even further refine that calculation to just the Ontario demand, let alone the specific transmitters or the other market participants.


MR. ELSON:  No, that's fair Mr. Young, and thank you. I understand the information that you currently have and the information that the IESO has, and what I am trying to get is a different piece of information that will require some calculation and some engineering expertise, perhaps on your end or on the end of the IESO.


So separately from the information that you already have, if the IESO were to provide you with a total transmission system losses in a year, would you be able to estimate based on those total system losses the losses attributable to Hydro One within a range of error and subject to provisos, et cetera?


MR. YOUNG:  No, I wouldn't be able to.  I think your better bet may be to ask the IESO, because you have to remember they have all the hourly information on the system.


MR. ELSON:  Why couldn't you use Hydro One's percentage of the total throughput as a rough factor in calculating how much of the losses are attributable to Hydro One?


MR. YOUNG:  Because it varies over 8,760 hours of the year, and so unless you knew exactly what was going on in every single one of those hours there is no way.  And if you were to record specifically only the Hydro One facilities, there is no way to compute that without that information.


MR. ELSON:  Wouldn't those variances even out over the span of a year?  What if you were to try to do that on an annual basis?


MR. YOUNG:  Oh, I think that would be a horrible, you know, assumption.


MR. ELSON:  What would be a horrible assumption, sorry?


MR. YOUNG:  To try to aggregate all the different numbers for 8,760 hours into an aggregate annual value.  I think that would be -- there would be an awful lot of imprecision in that approach.


MR. ELSON:  Well, what I am talking about is getting the annual transmission system losses from the IESO.  If they were able to come up with an annual number versus just the five-minute intervals, why couldn't you turn that annual number into a number attributable just to Hydro One, because it would have -- be over a longer period and therefore address sort of variances that are hour by hour or minute by --


MR. YOUNG:  Again, I would have to have the granularity of the information that the IESO have, and I don't have that.


MR. ELSON:  And if you were to have the granularity of the IESO's information, would that be something that you or someone on your team might be able to do?


MR. YOUNG:  This is a hypothetical question here.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Elson, I am going to object to the question -- the next question I think that you're going to make of requesting an undertaking to have the witness do this, because it's -- quite frankly, you have heard from Mr. Young that he doesn't have the information, that the information resides with the Independent Electricity System Operator, and it's therefore -- I am not sure how it relates to this proceeding or the record in this proceeding.


MR. ELSON:  I am actually not going to ask for that undertaking at the moment, Mr. Nettleton, and I think we will leave it with Mr. Young, your answer saying that it's a hypothetical question, so I guess you are not quite sure whether it may or may not be possible.  Is that fair to say?


MR. YOUNG:  I don't believe I can answer to that.


MR. ELSON:  You can't answer that?


MR. YOUNG:  No.


MR. ELSON:  That's okay.  And so I think the same thing would be true with respect to losses at the peak.  If the IESO were to calculate the total transmission system losses at the peak, you are not sure whether you'd be able to find out how much is attributable to Hydro One.


MR. YOUNG:  Sir, again, we don't have the information to disaggregate that.  And in fact, just to be helpful here, is that I don't believe the IESO has the information to even disaggregate between the total market demand and the Ontario demand.


MR. ELSON:  Are the volumes that are put into Hydro One's system by generators metered?


MR. YOUNG:  There is metering for all generation facilities.


MR. ELSON:  And are the volumes delivered to LDCs and to large customers metered?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, there is.


MR. ELSON:  So why can't you calculate the difference between those two to find out how much the losses are?


MR. YOUNG:  The metering provides the power delivery at those meter points, they do not provide the information about what energy might have been lost upstream of those meters.


MR. ELSON:  I guess what I am saying is if you took the meters that show how much power is going into Hydro One's system from the generators and then subtract from that how much is delivered to the LDCs and to large customers, you know, wouldn't that be equal to the losses?


MR. YOUNG:  Well, in some respects that is effectively what the IESO does for computing the losses for the total Ontario system.  But we don't have the level and the granularity of the information in order to be computing to specifically Hydro One.  And neither do I believe the IESO does either, whether it's Hydro One or any other market participant or any other transmitter.


MR. ELSON:  Sorry, I am confused by your answer, because I thought you said that's what the IESO does, but you are also saying that the IESO doesn't have enough information to do that.  Can you clarify?


MR. YOUNG:  So let me clarify.  For the purposes of computing the losses on the total system, Ontario system, for the market demand, effectively the IESO monitors the power delivered into the grid and then monitors the power withdrawn from the grid, and the difference is the losses.


So they are able to compute that on an aggregate basis in that specific way.  But there is no information specifically with respect to all the other subset of those meters to be able to disaggregate that number.


MR. ELSON:  So I am going to move on to the cost of transmission losses.  Now, I am going to be, you know, hopefully receiving more information perhaps from the IESO with respect to how much those losses are and how much is attributable to Hydro One's system, and so if we were able to provide you with the -- or provide you or the IESO with the hourly losses from Hydro One's system, would it be possible to calculate the cost of those losses based on what the hourly losses are?


MR. YOUNG:  You'd have to be able to provide the hourly losses on all our facilities for every hour on the system.


MR. ELSON:  And if you were to have an aggregate figure, I am just assuming that you could then calculate the cost from there.


MR. YOUNG:  I wouldn't be able to disaggregate it from an aggregate figure.


MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Elson, as I indicated in correspondence to you, just to be helpful, the transmission losses are recovered as part of the uplift in the energy commodity price.  That is -- those are elements that are in the domain of the independent electric system operator.


So I want to be clear that this is not something that's within the transmission rate that Hydro One is seeking approval for.  I am saying all this because I am losing, again, the focus and the relevance of your questions as it relates to the relief that we are seeking here and before the Board.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, these questions about the cost of the losses -- actually, you know what?  I am done in this area, so I am not -- you know, I could respond to you, but in the interests of time I don't think it's necessary.  I am happy to move on to another area.


Actually, let me ask this one question.  Mr. Young, you said that you would need to disaggregate the aggregate losses in order to generate a cost figure.  Why did you say you'd have to disaggregate the aggregate?


MR. YOUNG:  From the perspective of identifying -- you were suggesting that I somehow take some aggregate

number --


MR. ELSON:  Yeah.


MR. YOUNG:  -- and determine what Hydro One's proportion would be, and I said I wouldn't be able to do that from an aggregate value.


MR. ELSON:  Okay, I am going to move on.


So if you were look for comparative information on transmission system energy losses in other jurisdictions, where would you look for that?


MR. NETTLETON:  I am going to object to the question, Mr. Elson.  I don't see it relevant to the evidence or any of the interrogatories that have been asked in this proceeding.


MR. ELSON:  I can address the issue, or if it's a firm refusal, move on.


MR. NETTLETON:  Move on, please.


MR. ELSON:  Let's say that the Board were to wish Hydro One to pay more attention to transmission losses as part of your investment planning.  Is one of the things that you could potentially do be to look at energy losses in other jurisdictions for comparative purposes?


MR. YOUNG:  I am not sure that I would do that, simply because when it comes to losses, it's so different from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.  When you are talking losses, you'd be comparing apples, oranges and coconuts.


Unless you were to find another system that were comparable to Ontario, with the same geography, with the same generation dispatch, with the same operating criteria, it would be very, very difficult to even have a meaningful type of comparison of losses even on any kind of normalized metric.


MR. ELSON:  But you do benchmarking in a lot of areas where there is significant variation across jurisdiction, wouldn't you?


MR. YOUNG:  We do benchmarking on reliability performance, but that is not the same as losses.


MR. ELSON:  And I guess all I was looking at is if you wanted to do that kind of benchmarking, where would you look to?


MR. YOUNG:  I really wouldn't know.


MR. ELSON:  You don't know, okay. Let's say that the Board wanted losses monitored in more detail.  Who would do that?  The IESO or Hydro One?


MR. YOUNG:  I think on balance, the IESO would be in a better position simply because they have more of the entire system information beyond just the wires that Hydro One is accountable for.


MR. ELSON:  Let's say that the Board were to ask Hydro One to look into transmission losses, and see if there were projects that would benefit consumers by reducing the cost associated with those losses.  And let's say that those could be built in 2018.


Would you need to come back to the Board for approval for those projects?  What would you need to do to make that happen?


MR. YOUNG:  I am not sure I can respond to that; that's particularly hypothetical.  I wouldn't know what to say here.


MR. ELSON:  Would anyone else on the panel be able to answer that?  I guess it's a bit more a regulatory question.


MR. HUBERT:  I am afraid I am in a similar situation to Mr. Young, because of the hypothetical question.  Part of it has to do with if the Board were to do something. The Board has many vehicles to incent parties to do things.


It could order any party to do anything, and I think then, you know, obviously subject to a Board order, we would choose to accommodate that.  But that would have to be fairly prescriptive, and I think it's quite clear that the IESO would have to be very closely involved in this.


MR. ELSON:  I guess my concern is that -- or my question is that if the Board were to go down that road and ask that you look into it, and then you were to come up with something that could happen in 2018, I am just wondering how that would roll out.


Would you need to come back to the Board to recover the costs associated with that, with sort of a new project that's not in your current investment portfolio.


MR. HUBERT:  It certainly would, because our current application is based on current customer needs, customer preferences and retirements.  So that would be a new element that would have to go into mix.


Mr. Penstone described the reprioritization that would have to happen, and I guess we would have to know what the implications of that investment would be from a risk and outcome perspective to --


MR. ELSON:  That's helpful, that's very helpful. What would be the, I guess you could say, the easiest way to proceed from a regulatory perspective?


Is it necessary to have -- to do that in a relatively expedient kind of way?


MR. HUBERT:  I believe our application is the best way to proceed from a regulatory perspective.


MR. ELSON:  You are saying it could happen within your current application?


MR. HUBERT:  No, I am saying that our current application we have put before the Board reflects what we believe is the most appropriate plan to meet our obligations as a transmitter.


So I don't know what I can propose other than that.


MR. ELSON:  I understand that, and I am not asking you to say otherwise.  I am just saying if there were to be a change involving a new project in 2018, how would you go about addressing that?  Is there a way that that can be done effectively?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Elson, the Board rules and the Board's legislation prescribes how applications and the process that the Board follows for applications that are made to it.  And I think it's fair to say that Hydro One would follow, whether it's a prescriptive direction, order, or whether it's an application that's a made on Hydro One's own volition, those are the typical procedural steps that are used and followed when seeking forms of approval from this Board, and that's what would be followed here.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Nettleton, I am not suggesting that you would -- Hydro One would be going outside the rules. I was just trying to get --


MR. NETTLETON:  No, quite so; I am not interpreting it.  I am saying we would follow the Board's process.  You asked how Hydro One would go about it, it they would go about it in accordance with the Board's process.


MR. ELSON:  What I was asking your witness, Mr. Nettleton, and not you, was whether there would be a particularly expedient way to do that.


If you are refusing, then I guess I can't ask the question, but --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Elson, you are confusing a hearing with a technical conference again.


My role here is to try and help you, as are the witnesses that are here.  But I am also very concerned and sensitive to the scope of this proceeding, and the scope of the questions that you are asking.


I am trying to actually help you realize that things
-- questions like what would Hydro One do to bring this type of project to the Board, they would follow the Board's process.  That is what they would do.  There is nothing more that needs -- Ms. Helt, maybe you can help here.


MS. HELT:  Well, I would just like to reiterate, and I know there has been a lot of back and forth about this, but the purpose of the technical conference really is to seek clarification.  It's not an opportunity to treat this as an opportunity to cross-examine or ask more general questions, but should be focussed on -- as Mr. Nettleton has said, to be focussed on the specific aspects of the application, or specific interrogatories and interrogatory responses.


It would be very helpful if, when we go through the afternoon, to try and get through as many parties questions as we can,  It may already be that we don't finish today and need additional time, if we continue to have this back and forth.


So the more focussed the question, the more focussed  the answer, would be very helpful.


MR. ELSON:  Ms. Helt, I am happy to leave this final question unanswered, and those are all my questions and so we can move on to other intervenors.  Thank you, panel.


MS. HELT:  I am not trying to limit your questions; I am just saying this generally.


MR. ELSON:  This was my last question.  I am not stopping prematurely.


Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Mr. Ferguson?

Questions by Mr. Ferguson:


MR. FERGUSON:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Cary Ferguson, and I am counsel for Anwaatin.  I have questions for you on four of Anwaatin's interrogatories, interrogatories 1, 3, 5 and 7, as well as your response to BOMA Interrogatory No. 9.


But just before I get into that, I would like to -- I noticed just a couple of typographical errors in Hydro One's responses to Anwaatin's interrogatories, specifically in Anwaatin 1, 4 and 7.


There is a reference to Exhibit 81, and I believe that should be Exhibit B1.  Also in Anwaatin number 1, there is a reference to Exhibit number 82 and I believe that should be Exhibit B2. And in Anwaatin number 6, there is a reference to Exhibit 01, and I believe that should be Exhibit D1.


So if the record could -- if we could just have it reflect that those are the actual exhibits referenced in our interrogatories.


I would like to start today with a question on BOMA Interrogatory No.9, if we could pull that up, please.


So here the question was to explain why Hydro One does not have a separate board committee for First Nations matters, and I had understood this question to ask why Hydro One does not have a board committee separate from health, safety, and the environment for First Nations matters.


Could you -- does this answer also apply to that, or is there a separate reason behind that?  I understand that Mr. Vels was the witness for this question, and if it's outside the scope of this panel...


MR. PENSTONE:  It's outside the scope.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  Could we get a undertaking to answer that question?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Great.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  So it's clear then -- if you could just reiterate, Mr. Ferguson, what the exact undertaking is.


MR. FERGUSON:  To explain why Hydro One does not have a board committee separate from health, environment -- health, safety, and the environment specifically for First Nations matters rather than the answer given here.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.4:  TO EXPLAIN WHY HYDRO ONE DOES NOT HAVE A BOARD COMMITTEE SEPARATE FROM HEALTH, SAFETY, AND THE ENVIRONMENT SPECIFICALLY FOR FIRST NATIONS MATTERS RATHER THAN THE ANSWER GIVEN HERE.


MR. FERGUSON:  Great, thank you, panel.


If you could turn now to Anwaatin Number 1 and specifically your responses at the bottom of page 2.  So in part (b) we had asked which, if any, First Nations governments and organizations Hydro One had invited to the stakeholder session listed in -- sessions, excuse me, on February 1st, 2015, August 6th, 2015, January 11th, 2016, and April 27th, 2016.  And you had referred us to your answer in part (a). But that does not actually, we feel, appropriately address the question.


Could you just tell us which, if any, First Nations governments and organizations you had invited.  I understand that (a) answers the process, but we are just looking for numbers here and names.


MR. HUBERT:  So there were no First Nation stakeholders in these sessions, and as noted here, the previous intervenors from Hydro One's transmission cases were invited as per the Board's directorate.


MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Hubert.


If I could turn you to Anwaatin Number 3, please.  So just a couple of questions here about the numbers provided.  Very helpful, and we very much appreciate that.


At the bottom of page 3 in these -- at answer 7 there on line 9, in the CDPP outliers table, the number of outliers in the northern region is listed as not available.  I was hoping the panel could elaborate on why they are unavailable.


MR. McLachlan:  The reason that says "not available" is because at the time when this information was submitted, the latest report, which would be a summary of the 2015 outliers and delivery point status, was not available.  It will be available soon within our company.


MR. FERGUSON:  And how soon?


MR. McLachlan:  It will be available the beginning of the fourth quarter, so within the next couple weeks.


MR. FERGUSON:  The next couple weeks.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  And could we get an undertaking to update this number once that report is available?


MR. McLachlan:  Absolutely, that's easy, yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Great.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.5:  TO UPDATE THE NUMBER ONCE THE REPORT IS AVAILABLE.  ALSO TO UPDATE THE TABLE WHEN THE REPORT BECOMES AVAILABLE.


MR. FERGUSON:  Similarly also for the table on page 6 of our response, the CDPP outliers there, same answer, the report wasn't yet available.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  And could we also get an undertaking to update that table when the report becomes available?


MR. McLachlan:  Yes, basically the same undertaking.


MR. FERGUSON:  Yeah.


MS. HELT:  Yes, so we will include that then in TCJ2.5.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you very much.


Turning back to some of the tables provided here, we are looking at the asterisk at the bottom, and it's usually total number of X over the total number of delivery points, DPs, monitored, and I was wondering, how many -- first, how many delivery points are there in the north for the second part of or interrogatory there, and then also how many of them are monitored.


MR. McLachlan:  I am sorry, I was just -- can you just repeat that again --


MR. FERGUSON:  Oh.  Yes, certainly, sorry --


MR. MCLACHLAN:  -- I was just taking notes here on this.


MR. FERGUSON:  -- I understand.  It's a lengthy question.


So if you look starting at the bottom of page 2 of the answer, the response to Interrogatory Number 3, you will see at the bottom of the table there is an asterisk, "T SAIFI M, total number of momentary interruptions over total number of delivery points monitored".  And this is with respect to northern transmission system performance.  So -- and this total number of delivery points monitored is repeated across various tables, and so we were wondering if you could provide, first, how many delivery points there are in the north that these figures relate to, and secondly how many of them are monitored.


MR. McLachlan:  So I am just going to ask for a bit of clarification in regards to what's on the screen here, this exhibit.  The number of delivery points in northern region, being the 150.5, 150 and that, you are asking for clarification on how many delivery points there are in the north?


MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  So is that column there -- or, sorry, is that row, the number of DPs, that's the total number of DPs --


MR. McLachlan:  That is the total number of delivery points in the north.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  So what we are looking at in that bottom line, the one highlighted in yellow, is the number of momentary interruptions, so in 2006 that would be 285, divided by number of DPs in northern region, which for 2006 would be 150.5.


MR. McLachlan:  Correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  So it's the total number, and that's the total number monitored and that is also the total number of DPs in the north?


MR. McLachlan:  I guess a clarification for you, is when you say the total number, you are asking for what volume of delivery points it is that we measure, monitor?


MR. FERGUSON:  Well, I am just asking for clarification on the asterisk there, where it says -- the second part after the slash says "total number of DP monitored", and so I am wondering is the total number -- is this -- are the total number of DPs monitored and the total number of DPs the same?


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, okay, thank you.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  And that is applicable to tables there, 1, 2, 3, and 4?


MR. McLachlan:  That's correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Perfect, thank you.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Turning again to page 6 of Anwaatin Number 3.  I just want to confirm that the table here lists the delivery points that are CDPP outliers of the five delivery points connecting the First Nation communities identified in this interrogatory; is that correct?


MR. McLachlan:  That's correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Great.  And one last point on this interrogatory response.  Again, thank you for providing the data.  It's very helpful.  It is a little unwieldy in this format.  We were wondering if Hydro One could put some of the figures all together comparing all of Hydro One to the northern transmission system numbers and the five First Nations delivery points as well, specifically for the response from what you have listed in figure -- in Exhibit B1, tab 1, Schedule 3, the Figure 8A, that data, those kind of final numbers for all of Hydro One, all of the north, and then those five First Nations DPs, just to get all the data together rather than having to jump back and forth.


MR. McLachlan:  I just had two kind of clarification points I would like to ask.  The first was, for what purpose would you want this information in that format?


MR. FERGUSON:  To make it easier to compare, rather than having to jump back and forth every time.


MR. McLachlan:  And the second clarification point was, the exhibit number that you just mentioned, can Staff get it up on the screen?  I assume it's --


MR. FERGUSON:  So these are the numbers after the calculations that you have done; right?  And so we just wanted to compare those final -- a table comparing those numbers to the final numbers from the north to the final numbers for the First Nations for each of these; is that possible?


MR. NETTLETON:  So Ms. Helt, we have just -- I have just had discussions with counsel for Anwaatin, and I think there is some clarification required of what type of comparison information.  We are going to take it offline and discuss it with the witnesses, and then maybe at the break come back and be able to --


MS. HELT:  That's fine.  Thank you.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you, that's all for this question.  We can move now to Anwaatin number 5.  So, again thank you for providing this data; again very helpful.


With respect to the charts in response 1, or (i), would it be possible to have the average over ten years provided as well for each chart?


MR. McLachlan:  Just give me a moment to refresh myself with this interrogatory.


MR. FERGUSON:  Sure.  Just for clarify, I am not asking you to compute the average at this moment.


MR. McLachlan:  So this is the exhibit and the chart you are speaking in particular about here?


MR. FERGUSON:  And on pages 3 and 4 as well.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.  And this is a ten-year history and you are asking for how this -- how are you asking for this to be augmented?


MR. FERGUSON:  Just to compute the average, the ten-year average for each of those charts.


MR. McLachlan:  Oh just a flat line average?


MR. FERGUSONN:  Yes, that's fine.


MR. McLachlan:  Presently, I believe now this is showing the trending.


MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, we got the line of best fit there. But we would also like the average number of all those figures.


MR. McLachlan:  I don't think that's an issue.  You had just mentioned that we would come back in regards to the previous question and give a response.


MR. NETTLETON:  Counsel for Anwaatin had a discussion with me about the prior ask that he had made, and there is need for clarification of that.


But I guess my question, sir, is the individual numbers are presented on the chart --


MS. HELT:  Microphone, sorry.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry.  The individual numbers are presented on the chart.  If what you are asking for is a simple mathematical average calculation, I am not sure why that can't be done from the information that's already there.


And again, I am just loathe to having more undertakings given when the underlying evidence is there.


MR. FERGUSON:  If that's a refusal, that's fine.  We can move on, thanks.


Just a point of clarification here.  In the response

-- sorry, where am I here?  On page 2, at line 13, that the following graphs provide transmission reliability performance and trends for five delivery points serving the identified territories.


I just wanted to confirm that that is the five territory – delivery points identified in your response to Anwaatin IR Number 3 at page 4, line 4.


So that's Beardmore TS number 2, Longlac TS, Moosonee TS, Nipigon TS, and Red Rock TS, and that that applies to the Aroland First Nation, Moose Factory Moosonsee, Rocky Bay First Nation, Red Rock Indian Band, Geraldton, Nipigon and Beardmore.


MR. McLachlan:  Correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  And if we can look at the graphs now on page 4, duration of sustained delivery point interruptions, and delivery point and reliability index.  We will start with the top one, duration of sustained delivery point interruption, it shows an increasing trend line with quite a large discrepancy between the figure in 2006 and 2015.


And I was wondering if the panel could provide any further context or information to explain what these numbers are showing, which is a large increase in the duration of sustained delivery point interruptions.


MR. McLachlan:  I am sorry, I forgot your name.


MR. FERGUSON:  Mr. Ferguson.


MR. McLachlan:  Mr. Ferguson, I can't comment at this time as to what the causes or the primary causes may have been to see the increase in reliability, duration and frequency.  But we can undertake to provide that.


MR. FERGUSON:  If you could do so, and for the table beneath it, labelled “Delivery point unreliability index” as well.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  So we will have that noted as TCJ2.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.7:  WITH REFERENCE TO ANWAATIN IR 3, PAGE 4, LINE 4, TO EXPLAIN THE LARGE INCREASE IN THE DURATION OF SUSTAINED DELIVERY POINT INTERRUPTIONS, AND FOR THE TABLE LABELLED "DELIVERY POINT UNRELIABILITY INDEX"


MR. FERGUSON:  If I can direct your attention to page 5 of Anwaatin number 5?  So looking in the chart here, you state that 28.3 percent of the conductors and 1.4 percent of wood poles for your overhead lines require assessment, and I was hoping you could unpack them.


For each of those, what does require assessment mean, and what that entail?


MR. NG:  Mr. Ferguson, in a case specific to the conductor, require assessment means that we need to go to the conductor to either remove a sample and send it to a lab or use a device called LineVue to scan it and assess the condition of the wire.


In the case of a wood pole, it would be doing a drill test.  A lineman would go to the pole, drill, and measure the short thickness of the pole.


MR. FERGUSON:  And what triggers the requirement for a "requires assessment" designation?  What triggers that?


MR. NG:  That is based on the age of the asset.


MR. FERGUSON:  And is that a contextual thing, depending on multiple factors, or where – you know, if we're in a more corrosive environment, for instance, you would have to do it earlier in the expected service life?  Or is it just a hard set number?


MR. NG:  For wood pole and conductor, it is a fixed number.


MR. FERGUSON:  And can you provide that number?


MR. NG:  Yes.  For a wood pole, it's 25 years; for conductor, it's 50 years, five-zero.


MR. FERGUSON:  Great, thank you very much. Also on page 5 at line 9, there is just the last paragraph on the page, you state that approximately 70 kilometres of line is  near end of lifer and is being targeted for refurbishment in the next five years.


When you say near end of life, how near are we talking here?  Is that an age?  Is that a...


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Ferguson, are you on page 8 of Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 5?


MR. FERGUSON:  I am on page 5.


MR. NETTLETON:  I am looking at page 8, because there are dates there.


MS. HELT:  Page 5 is on the screen now.


MR. FERGUSON:  So actually, thank you for bringing that to my attention, Mr. Nettleton, and I will have questions about that, but is that -- and this is a great time to start it, but are those assets listed on page 8, are those the approximately 70 kilometres of line near end of life being targeted for refurbishment?


MR. NG:  So Mr. Ferguson, I will answer the first question first.  When we mention the conductor is at near end of life, it is an outcome of a conductor sample testing.  So there is a set criteria that deem the conductor to be end of life or near end of life.


So in this particular example we would have taken a piece of conductor from that circuit and it would have gone through the testing in the lab, and we have determined it to be at near end of life.


MR. FERGUSON:  Right.  So it's not a set thing.  It could be -- it depends on the conductor.


MR. NG:  It depends on the conductor, depends on the conditions.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, thank you.


So you wouldn't be able to give me exact figures of when this would change from near end of life to end of life.  It depends on that test.


MR. NG:  The pace at which a conductor would degrade is governed by many different factors, environmental loading, design, and so on.  So I cannot predict how quickly will a conductor go from near end of life to end of life.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, thank you.


And would you be able to give us a better idea of approximately where this 70 kilometres of line is within these regions?


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  So is that an undertaking?


MR. NG:  Sure, yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, thank you.


MS. HELT:  So Undertaking TCJ2.8.  And that's, just to be clear, to provide a description of where the 70 kilometres of line is located?  Is that correct, Mr. Ferguson?


MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.8:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF WHERE THE 70 KILOMETRES OF LINE IS LOCATED.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And, now, turning to page 6 here.  We have a list of Hydro One's transmission assets associated with the various TSs and SSs.  So just starting -- I note that for Alexander SS, the actual/planned replacement date is left empty, it's left blank.  Is that because it's still anticipated to be 2017/2018?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. NG:  I will have to go back and confirm the numbers here, meaning that have they been replaced or plan to be replaced.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And so you can do that by way of undertaking as well?


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Just to be clear, when you are saying to go back to check the numbers, you are referring to the numbers in this chart -- I am sorry, I just can't see the top of it to give the proper reference.  Exhibit I, tab 10, Schedule 5, page 6 of 8.  That will be TCJ2.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.9:  TO CHECK THE NUMBERS ASSOCIATED WITH HYDRO ONE'S TRANSMISSION ASSETS ASSOCIATED WITH THE VARIOUS TRANSMISSION STATIONS AND SS'S IN EXHIBIT I, TAB 10, SCHEDULE 5, PAGE 6 OF 8.


MR. FERGUSON:  And so I have noticed that in this chart and on all of the next page on page 7, we have a number of assets that are listed both for original and planned replacement date as beyond 2018.  And I was hoping you could unpack that a little bit.


How far beyond 2018 are we looking here?  Is this a status designation?  How does this work?


MR. NG:  So Mr. Ferguson, perhaps you can give me a bit more context around the ask.  This application is for rate recovery in '17 and '18.  This is beyond -- planned beyond that time.


MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, but I note that, for instance, on your page 8 chart you have given dates out to 2074 for your original planned replacement date, so I was wondering why in some cases we can go out as far out as 50 or 60 years in the future, but for some assets that are, you know, 70, 67, 68 years old we simply have a beyond 2018 designation.


MR. NG:  So what we propose to do would be, we will fill out this table to give you an indicator that, when is the anticipated date for asset replacement in the future.


MR. FERGUSON:  Went you refer to "this table" you mean the tables in -- on pages 6 and 7?


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  That list beyond 2018.


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, great, thank you.


MS. HELT:  So we will have that, then, as TCJ2.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.10: TO FILL OUT THIS TABLE TO GIVE AN INDICATOR OF THE ANTICIPATED DATE FOR ASSET REPLACEMENT IN THE FUTURE.  ALSO, TO INCLUDE THE EXPECTED SERVICE LIFE OF THOSE ASSETS IN THAT TABLE.


MR. FERGUSON:  And would you also be able to include the expected service life of those assets in that table?


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, great, thank you very much.


Just on page 8 here, I have noted there is a couple of questions just here.  Firstly, we have -- in the second column it's listed as average age, whereas all the other assets are listed as age, and I am assuming -- is that because we are talking about lines here and various parts might be replaced at different times but overall the circuit is of that average age?


MR. NG:  That is correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, thank you.


And so for the A4L circuit/conductor -- it's the third one down -- you had indicated an original or anticipated replacement plan date of 2012 when the asset would have been approximately 68 years old.  And a portion of that line is scheduled for refurbishment in 2017 to 2022, and that some sections require assessments.


Do you know which portions of the line and how long?


MR. NG:  Yes, I do.  I will provide, and I guess I will get it done in an undertaking, I guess.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you, you read my mind.


MR. NG:  Yeah.


MS. HELT:  TCJ2.11.


MR. FERGUSON:  So that's to provide which portions of the line, how long, where they run.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.11:  TO PROVIDE WHICH PORTIONS OF THE LINE, HOW LONG, WHERE THEY RUN.


MR. FERGUSON:  And I assume that that is the same -- requires assessment standard as we discussed earlier.


MR. NG:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.


And that's the same standard as well for the T1B circuit conductor in the line below that.


MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. FERGUSON:  Great.  Thank you.


Turning now to Anwaatin Number 7.  If you can scroll down to the response in (a).  And it's there on line 28.  You state that:

"The regional planning process was mainly intended for the direct participation of distributors, transmitters, and the IESO, formerly the OPA."


I was just curious what you were basing that on or where that was coming from.


MR. YOUNG:  Oh, that was a process that was established by the Ontario Energy Board, and so the process was intended for just the licensees and the IESO -- or OPA/IESO at the time.


MR. FERGUSON:  Right.  And so there would have been -- there were no First Nations present as part of that process.


MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.


MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Ferguson.


I suggest we -- since we started at 1:30, we will take a ten-minute break.  We do still have Mr. Dumka, Mr. Higgin, Ms. Grice, Mr. Garner, Ms. Blanchard, and Mr. Thiessen left.  We will have about an hour and 45 minutes when we get back.  I am not sure if we will get finished.


If we don't, Mr. Thiessen has found out that there is time in this hearing room available on Tuesday of next week, and there are no other Board matters scheduled.  I don't know if Mr. Nettleton nor his witnesses are available, but we can take that off line, but let's really try and see if we can finish with everybody, you know.  We have got an hour and 55 minutes when we get back, so I am hopeful we can do it as long as we stay as focused as possible, all right?  Let's come back at five past 3:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:09 p.m.


MS. HELT:  All right, everybody, we can get started. Ms. Blanchard, I think you are up next.

Questions by Ms. Blanchard:


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes. Good afternoon, panel.  My first question relates to CME IR Number 4 --


MR. NETTLETON:  We are missing a witness.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Oh, I apologize.


MS. HELT:  We will adjourn for 2 minutes while we wait the witness.


[Pause in proceedings]


MS. HELT:  All right, we are back on air, Ms. Blanchard.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  So we asked the question, a question about pacing of sustainment work, and the question was in reference to the comment in the application that sustainment work has been paced so that critical work could be completed prior to outage constraints.


We asked you whether that had resulted in any investments being accelerated, and the answer provided was no.


So I guess what I am trying to understand is -- really I am looking for a clarification of the response, because I understood the comment to be that you had to increase the pace of this sustainment work in order to be prepared for the outage constraints.  Is that inaccurate?


MR. NG:  Ms. Blanchard, the reference to increasing the sustainment investment pace is referring to that we now have asset need to undertake more sustainment work in the next few years.


The context around this investment in '17 and '18 hasn't been accelerated is we already made plans to have them done in those two years.  Delaying them would add to the problem down the road.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So if I can just repeat back what I think I heard, the issue was with the use of the word "accelerate".  If I had said increase the number, that would have been -- the answer would be yes, there is more work being done.


MR. NG:  There is more work that needed to be done.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So in terms of the extra work that's

-- or the more sustainment work, is that something that has been separately tracked, or do we have a sense of what the increased investment is that's needed to be ready for the outage constraints?


MR. NG:  Can you please provide me with more clarifications of your ask?


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I guess our question was -- and I think where we ran into trouble with our question was the use of the word "accelerating".


But we are looking at an application that is reflecting significant additional sustainment work.  So one of our questions was: are we able to look at that additional sustainment work and identify what portion of that additional sustainment work can be attributed to these outage constraints.  Or do you not have that ability?


MR. NG:  So the point that I want to make here is that none of this planned work is being accelerated or advanced because of the nuclear constraints.  The notion is to have it done now, so that we don't have to deal with a larger volume of work in the years to come.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes, I appreciate that.  What I am trying to get to is we are looking at an application which shows what I would characterize as a significant increase in sustainment work.  And so I am trying to get a handle on where we are attributing those increases to -- not the specific assets, but what the drivers are.


And so in terms of the work that is being paced to deal with the outages, that was one example of what I would have thought a basket of increased sustainment work over the test years.


MR. PENSTONE:  So the comment related to the outages has nothing to do with the pacing of the work.  It has to do with the execution of the work in future years.


So we are -- the needs have been identified, and the timings of the need has been identified, irrespective of the nuclear shut down -- let me step back; irrespective of planned nuclear outages.


In the time frame that -- if we don't execute this work with the timing that we've got, and remember the timing is regardless of the nuclear plans, and if it gets deferred into the future, the execution is going to be complicated for two reasons; the nuclear refurbishment plans and the other additional work that we anticipate will be required in that horizon.


I think that's the point that we are trying to make here is we need to -- the asset needs speak for themselves.  If there is a deferral into the future, execution of this work is just going to become more challenging.


MS. BLANCHARD:  That I appreciate.  The question was could you tell me in the test years how much additional sustainment work is attributable to making sure it's done in this time frame that you flagged.


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So my next question then relates to CME 7.  And I understand that this morning, there were quite a few questions relating to the reliability risk model, and so I am going to preface this with the comment that it's not my intention to retread ground that's already been covered.


The questions that we were putting in this interrogatory were intended to understand how the risk -- the reliability risk model operates in conjunction with your existing asset risk assessment process.  And it was my understanding from the questions yesterday that we've received confirmation that the process of asset risk assessment has not changed from previous applications.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  But the reliability risk model is new?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So as I understand it, your asset risk assessment process creates a list of potential investments, and then you superimpose this reliability risk model to test -- to test the effect that those investments will have on your reliability risk.


MR. PENSTONE:  So I want to be clear that the reliability risk is a relative measure, and it's used to be able to gauge the relative impacts of investment plans, which have been developed, as you point out, Ms. Blanchard, using the asset risk assessment as one of the processes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So is there ever a scenario where you would produce an investment plan using your asset risk assessment process and then apply the reliability risk model and conclude, we need to be doing more investment?  Looking at this model, we are using that to test our investment plan and we are deciding that the reliability risk model is showing us that really we need more investment?


MR. PENSTONE:  The reliability risk model would enable us to identify that as a result of the particular investment plan that relative to the current situation that at the end of that plan that our reliability risk would either be increasing or it would be reduced.  That would inform our investment plan.


Based on our customers' feedback, where they do not want to see an increase in reliability risk, if we had an investment plan that suggested it was going to increase, we would go back and revisit it.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So did that happen in preparing the investment plans for the test years?  And when I say "that", did you apply your reliability risk model to an investment plan and then go back and take another look after you concluded that the outcome of that model was not where you wanted to be?


MR. PENSTONE:  So the process was, based on the results of the customer consultations, the formal customer consultations, the investment plan was modified.  It was then subsequently assessed in terms of what was the resulting reliability risk, and it was determined that the reliability risk was improving slightly the current situation.  There was an improvement over what it is today.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So you've given me a couple of -- there is a couple of things that you have told me, and I want to unpack them a little bit.


So you produced your investment plan, and then you considered the input from the customer --


MR. PENSTONE:  No, I did not say that.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, sorry.


MR. PENSTONE:  The customer consultation influenced the investment plan.  Once the investment plan was established, we then tested against the reliability risk model to determine what was the resulting outcome to reliability risk:  Was it better than what it is today or was it worse if we undertook these investments?


MS. BLANCHARD:  So when you did your customer consultation there was an output from that that caused you to change your investment plan.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And increase the amount of investment.


MR. PENSTONE:  So again, I want to re-emphasize, we had no plan when we went to the customers for the consultations.  Based on their consultations we took their advice and incorporated it in the development of the plan.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I will leave that.  Hopefully the next few questions will be short.


I would like to take you to OEB 60.  And if you scroll down to the second page in this response, you have provided a list of projects that did not proceed on schedule or where there was a change.  And in a number of cases the reason for that was because there was an undervalued estimate of the cost to complete the investment.


And so I am wondering whether when that happens you do some form of debrief or report that would assist the company in understanding why the initial estimates were incorrect?


MR. PENSTONE:  When we identify that a project's costs or schedule are different from the original plan, it prompts us to actually go through a process to reconfirm the need for the project at the revised cost, and we also document the contributing factors and steps that we will take to avoid a repeat of that situation.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Are you able to provide some -- one of -- maybe provide some examples of instances where projects were -- where estimates for projects were too low and as a way of explaining what types of issues are contributing to this problem?


MR. PENSTONE:  So I guess I am just wondering, how would that assist or influence --


MS. BLANCHARD:  I guess I could rephrase the question.


Is there -- do you have a group that estimates the cost of projects, and is there some larger process that's being reviewed when you get a number of undervalued projects?  Do you have a construction cost estimating group?


MR. PENSTONE:  There is an estimating group in Hydro One, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And do their processes get revisited as a result of this type of analysis?


MR. PENSTONE:  That -- that group is not part of my organization, so I can't speak with absolute authority to answer that question.  I would expect that that's the case, but I can't answer --


MS. LEE:  Perhaps, Ms. Blanchard, it would be helpful if I directed you to the application, Exhibit B1, tab 4, Schedule 1, section 5.3.  And there you will see a description of the steps that Hydro One has taken to increase its accuracy in estimating.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Sorry, I am just reading the...


So have these -- have these steps been taken in response to the types of issues that are described in this answer to OEB Staff 60?


MR. PENSTONE:  So those steps have been undertaken to improve the accuracy of the estimates for projects.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I am going to go to another area now.  And this question relates to our -- to CME's question 2.  Oh, I apologize.  I guess it's our question 11.  I apologize.  Page -- yes, CME 11, relating to the scorecard.


And so we had some questions about the auditor general's -- the auditor general's conclusions, and at the bottom of the first page the -- one of the responses as to the question about what we had suggested would be an inconsistency between the scorecard and the auditor general's report, you indicate that one of the reasons -- or at least I understood you to be indicating that one of the reasons why the scorecard is producing a different outcome than the auditor general came up with is because the auditor general only looked at multi-circuit supply and the scorecard considers both multi-circuit and single- circuit supply delivery points.


Is that what is being conveyed by that last paragraph?


MR. McLachlan:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So am I right in thinking then that when you build in the single -- the results of SAIDI with the single-circuit supply, you end up with different results.


MR. McLachlan:  Correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And those results would show Hydro One as being more reliable, if you put in the single-circuit information.  You show reliability is actually better if you put in the single-circuit numbers, is that right?


MR. McLachlan:  No that's not correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


MR. McLachlan:  By adding in the single-circuit supplies along with the multi-circuit supplies, the proposed transmission regulatory scorecard now represents, at a reliability level, all delivery points that Hydro One supplies.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


MR. McLachlan:  So it's a more comprehensive measure of Hydro One as a transmitter versus what the auditor general looked at was a subset, a scorecard measure on multi-circuits, and multi-circuits are a subset of our overall set of delivery points.


So the proposal on the transmittal -- on the regulatory scorecard was to not include the subset of multi-circuit, but to include multi-circuits and radial or single-circuits together to give a single comprehensive measure that represents reliability across all delivery points for Hydro One.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So when you added this paragraph at the bottom of this response, you weren't saying that part of the reason why you disagree with the auditor general's conclusion is that they didn't put in the single circuit.  You are just pointing it out as a difference?


MR. McLachlan:  Can you just restate that again, please.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I think the question that we had originally asked was if you compare your scorecard results going back to 2014, for example, with what the auditor general looked at, the auditor general says reliability is getting worse, the scorecard concludes that it's basically flat.


And so I understood this answer to be in part saying that one of the reasons why we say reliability is flat and not getting worse is because we are building in single-circuit numbers.  But that's not the intent here?


MR. McLachlan:  Correct.


MR. PENSTONE:  Your conclusion was inaccurate.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  All right.  My next question is -- you know, I think you actually have dealt with this to a certain extent and it's probably a quick answer.


But you have listed a number of your assets as requiring assessment throughout the application.  So is there ever a scenario where an asset that's listed as requiring assessment would nevertheless be included in an investment plan?


MR. NG:  Are you are referring to a specific IR, or part of the evidence?


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I could refer you to an example.  So for example, in SEC 21, you have got -- you provided a response 9300 kilometres of conductors require assessment. That's just an example, but my question is, is the there ever a scenario where assets which are -- which have a condition that's listed as requiring assessment would wind up in an investment plan?


MR. NG:  Not for the investment in the test year.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I think I have used up my ten minutes a few times, so I will just pass it on to someone else.


Thank you, those are my questions.


MS. HELT:  I am not sure if Mr. Garner or Ms. Grice who is next.


MR. GARNER:  Well, I will cede to Ms. Grice obviously.


MS. HELT:  Okay, Ms. Grice, thank you.

Questions by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon, panel.  I hate to inform you have a few questions on your asset condition assessment process, just to follow up from you, and I just have a few of my own.


So my first question relates to the overview that you gave at the beginning of panel number 2, and I understood you to say that there are business objectives that are weighted that you apply to the investments.  And then you also have your six asset factors that include age, condition, and those things, and criticality and utilization, and you score those based on a range of zero to 100.


So my question is:  Are they also weighted as well as having a score?  Is there some relationship between the six factors?


MR. PENSTONE:  They are not weighted.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And is there any weighting between the six factors and the business conditions, or are they all just sort of inputs into the process?


MR. PENSTONE:  So the asset risk assessment process enables us to identify asset needs.  They then generate a candidate investment.  That candidate investment is then optimized with other candidate investments, based on the degree to which they achieve business objectives.  It's through that optimization process that those weightings that you referred to earlier, Ms. Grice, are used.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So one happens before the other?  The six factors happen first, and then the whole sort of suite of things is applied to the objectives, the business objectives?


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  The business objectives are part of the optimization.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you. Another thing that was mentioned was that when you go through your risk mitigation exercise, you want to reduce the baseline risk from no investment to a lower residual risk after investment.


I just notice there were a lot of IRs trying to test out some sort of sensitivity in your process, so, you know, if you spend a dollar more what additional value do you get.


And I just wondered what -- are you able to, say, have a risk mitigation exercise done and then do something else and compare it to a level of investment, not if you did nothing, if there is no investment?  Is that part of the process at all?


I don't know if that's clear.


MR. PENSTONE:  We are able to assess the implications of different capital envelopes that would be available for our investment plan.


MS. GRICE:  So you could have an investment plan at a certain level, and then make enhancements to it or the other way and be able to make comparisons that don't go back to if we did nothing?


MR. PENSTONE:  We would be able to identify the results of a change in our capital envelope, in terms of the projects and programs that we would undertake.  We would be able to identify the relative difference in our activities.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then you were discussing with Ms. Blanchard how you went out to your customers you didn't have an investment plan.  But you did have three investment scenarios with various levels of investment, and then various levels of risk.


So you mentioned in your conversation with her that the investment plan that you have is improving slightly the current situation.


MR. PENSTONE:  The current reliability risk.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay, current reliability risk. Did you have another investment plan that looked at maintaining reliability as well as another plan that was further enhancing reliability?  Did you have in the end -- no, you just had --


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Your one investment plan.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then you mentioned in your presentation at the beginning of panel 2 that you had a recommended cut-off point.  And I just wondered how you determined that.


MR. PENSTONE:  I am sorry, could you just elaborate a little bit?


MS. GRICE:  Well, I just wrote it in my notes just based on the whole discussion that you gave, and I think it was in response to a question that when everyone was asking, you know, how did you decide between stations, lines, IT, real estate, fleet --


MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, okay, right.


MS. GRICE:  -- and then --


MR. PENSTONE:  So the cut-off point is essentially the point where all of these investments, even though they are substantially different, mitigate the same level of risk.  So that's how we establish the optimal investments across the company.


So an IT investment, based on our risk optimization, the next incremental dollar mitigates risk to the same extent that another investment in an entirely different part of the company does, so it's flat.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So it's -- so then it's almost like the recommended cut-off point was to improve slightly the current reliability situation.  That's -- was that an overarching goal?


MR. PENSTONE:  Asset needs are identified using our asset risk assessment process.  They enable us to come up with a candidate investment.  Those candidate investments are then optimized.  The optimization enables us to ensure that there is a consistent management of risk across all types of investments.


That is our investment plan.  Once we had that plan, we then applied the reliability risk assessment model to make a determination about, to what extent does this plan affect reliability risk.  Does it -- as a result of this investment plan and the optimization that we just went through, do we believe the reliability risk is increasing, stable, or getting worse?


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And as you did with, you know, when you went out with your -- to your customers and showed them three different rate impact scenarios, did you factor that in when you did your final investment planning?  Did you look at the relative risk -- or rate impacts?


MR. PENSTONE:  So the object of the investment plan is to address asset needs, customer needs and preferences, and we also assess the rate impacts of the plan as well.


MS. GRICE:  Thank you.


I just have a few interrogatories from AMPCO that just are about this process, so I'll -- bear with me.  I will just quickly go through those.


If you could turn to AMPCO number 24.  And what we asked here was whether or not the final investment plan that came out, how it related to scenario 1, 2, or 3 that was shared with customers.  And the response says that:

"On an average annual basis '17 and '18 are near scenario number 2."


And my client would like to know if that's left of two or right of two.


MR. PENSTONE:  So I am not exactly certain what "left or right" is, but in terms of the scenarios that were presented to the customers, the resulting investment plan is between scenario 2 and scenario 3.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's helpful, thank you.


If we turn to AMPCO Interrogatory No. 5.  And if I am covering ground that's already been covered, let me know.


MS. HELT:  We will let you know.


MS. GRICE:  So we asked here if other jurisdictions have used the asset management approach that Hydro One is using, and the response says that:

"Hydro One understands the similar methodology is being developed and used in the U.K. under the office of gas and electricity markets."


And I just wondered if you could explain further what they are doing and how you relied on that or if you did in your asset assessment approach?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. PENSTONE:  So Ms. Grice, if you don't mind, could you repeat the question?


MS. GRICE:  Sure.


MR. PENSTONE:  Because I think I have information that can answer it.  I just want to make sure it's the question.


MS. GRICE:  Sure.  I just -- you mentioned that Hydro One knows that there is a similar methodology being used by OFGEM, and I just wondered what is that similar methodology, what are they doing, and then part two of it was, did you rely on anything that they are doing to inform your asset assessment process?


MR. PENSTONE:  So I can answer part two, and that is, our reliability risk model was developed independently of OFGEM.  In the course of developing it we became -- we were then aware of the OFGEM model.


And in terms of a description of the OFGEM model, I am not an expert.  I am not certain that...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. NG:  So in terms of the OFGEM model, I can comment on one thing, which is, it is similar in such a way that they are both -- the OFGEM model and our reliability risk model are both an outcome measures of investment plan for future system reliability performance.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.


I just want to confirm to you -- in your discussion with Ms. Blanchard you said the reliability risk model is new.  I just want to confirm, the first time it's been used to develop an asset investment plan is for 2017/2018; is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  It's the first time we've used this model to test the outcome of our investment plan.


MS. GRICE:  Right.  Yup.  Gotcha.  Outcome.  Thank you.


Can we go to AMPCO number 28, please.  And I just want to make sure -- this will be quick -- that I understand what this response says.


So it looks like just under breakers that the level of investment actually at the end of the rate period is slightly -- I hope I am not -- reducing the reliability?  Sorry, I am saying that wrong.  It is increasing the reliability risk.


MR. NG:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Just wanted to make sure I understood that.


42.  AMPCO Number 42.  And I just have to go back at this again.  I don't think I am clear on expected service life and end of life, and how you use those two terms in your asset assessment process.


MR. PENSTONE:  Perhaps I can help that with an analogy.


MS. GRICE:  Perfect.

MR. PENSTONE:  And I'll make the numbers up.  So the expected service life of men is 72 years of age.  The expected service life of women is 74 years of age.  Their end of life, actual end of life is when they don't have a pulse and they may not be related to -- you know, that's essentially the analogy that we are trying to make, or at least that's how I understand it in my mind.

There is an expected life span that we have for an asset, which is its expected service life.  It's end of life is when it actually -- it's in a condition or it's based on those six factors, the number of factors that influence our asset needs enable us to make a determination that it has to be replaced.  It can no longer perform its intended function in a reliable manner.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, can I just follow up, if you don't mind, because -- first of all, I don't need to follow up on why women live longer than men.

But the thing that -- the thing that I don't understand about the analogy is -- aren't both of those figures that you are using estimated figures, as opposed to what you just described, which is one is an estimation and one is actuality.

Aren't both of these figures derivative something of a formula that gives you an estimate, or a forecast so to speak?  They're not actuals.

End of life is when the pole actually falls; that's the end of its life, right?

MR. PENSTONE:  Actually, no.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. PENSTONE:  So by our definition, the end of life of a pole is when we have done tests to confirm that there is a significant risk that it will fall down.  Frankly, we would like to replace our assets before they fail.


So we establish the end of life as being conditions have been established where this piece of equipment has to be replaced.


MR. GARNER:  Sorry to be thick, but I can't help it. So let me just -- using let's say a pole, something more like this.  So an estimated service life of a pole might be 50 years based on statistics; let's say whatever it is.

But you are then saying is the estimated end of life, or the end of life will be we just have to hammer tap and that pole is -- in our asset management, that pole is at the end of life and we are going the replace it.

Is that the difference?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  So the expected service life, if I use your analogy, is 50 years, right.  That would apply to a whole fleet of poles.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. PENSTONE:  When we actually go out and test the pole, age doesn't matter.  It's the conditions of that particular pole that will enable us to make a determination do we need to replace it.

MR. GARNER:  Right, so let me just use that analogy. So they do a hammer test and the technician says the end of life of this is probably six months or one year.  That is its end of life based on what I just -- my asset condition assessment, right.  That's the difference?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  So the end of life is based on actual condition, and a number of other factors enable us to make that declaration.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, so end of life is a --


MR. PENSTONE:  What happened to the referee?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  End of life then is really the expected service life of an individual asset based on a wide range of factors that you are assessing that individual life?

MR. PENSTONE:  No, don't use that expected service life.  If you repeat that -- and don't use the term expected service life, please.


MS. GRICE:  Can I take a stab at it?  So from are what I am understanding, it's the end of life that we care about because that's what's in your investment plan.

MR. PENSTONE:  All right, go ahead.


MR. NG:  Okay.  Can you go to Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 6, asset overview, and do a search on EOL; there is a definition in it.

MS. GRICE:  You know what, I did that.  I have done that and I did a search, too, for ESL and that is why I am asking, because I --


MR. NG:  So with that, as she is pulling up the exhibit, I will explain the use of these two definitions.

ESL is used as a screening tool.  You apply that fixed number across the asset class that tells you here are the possible number of assets that you may need to deal with. It's a screening tool.


So using Mike's analogy, you expected that guy to live to that age.  So anyone above that age, you will expect that the person will need to have more medical attention. But that doesn't mean that he is dead.


With that screening done, it helps us to focus in on a smaller area whereby we will go in and do the proper detailed engineering assessment through the ARA process to conclusively determine, yes, this is coming to end of life.


Then we will undertake an investment to replace the asset, plan for its funeral.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I get that, thank you.  And so the assets that you have that require assessment, they just don't -- you may have determined by their ESL that they are potential candidates, but you haven't yet done the testing to confirm that they are EOL.

MR. NG:  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you, and this is the last question I have on this.  If we go to CME 8, in part (f) it seems like there is just -- we are just trying to get sorted out on the last application asset condition was expressed in terms of very low risk, very high risk and levels in between and whereas now it's – sorry, I said this wrong.

Prior in the last application, the asset condition was expressed in terms of very poor to very good.  And now it's very low risk to very high risk.  And the response says that the terms are comparable.

I just wanted to sort of nail down, are there any differences that have an impact on the identification of assets that need to be replaced in the plan?


MR. NG:  I need to have a little bit more clarification on the ask.  So can you repeat the question?


MS. GRICE:  Well, it's just I think we all had an understanding from the last rates application what the terms very good -- or very poor to very good meant, and there was data provided in terms of, you know, the asset population and how many fell under each of those categories.

And now the condition of assets is being described as very low risk to very high risk, and you are not saying they are identical; you are saying they are comparable.

So I just wondered if there is any difference in how they are being classified that has an impact on how you, you know, develop your investment plan.

MR. NG:  It's an evolution of terminology.  When we say the asset is very low risk, it is the same as very good condition.


MS. GRICE:  So they are directly comparable?  They are the same?

MR. NG:  Yes.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  That's great.  Thank you.


Okay.  If we can turn to AMPCO 2, please.  And in this interrogatory we asked for the explanation as to how Hydro One has addressed the recommendations in the auditor general's report, and Board Staff Number 2 asked you for seven of those recommendations.


So there were a few that are applicable to transmission that I just wanted to follow up and see if we can get a response on, and one of them was excessive number of spare transformers in storage.  That was one of the thing that the auditor general identified, as well as, power quality issues are not corrected proactively and weak management oversight processes over capital project costs, so there were three that I was interested in and wondering if we could get the same sort of explanation that was provided in Board Staff 2 for those three.


MR. PENSTONE:  So Mr. McLachlan will address the spare transformers.  And so I would also just like to ask, when you say --


MS. LEE:  Sorry, could you specify the interrogatory response number again?


MS. GRICE:  For AMPCO it was AMPCO -- hang on here, sorry.  AMPCO 2, and Board Staff 2.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. McLachlan:  I will respond to this.


The three additional areas that you mention, to address them one by one, the first one we will have to do an undertaking on is the project management follow-up.  I have to follow up with somebody back in our business, but just before you tag that as an undertaking, the other two areas we will speak to briefly, and we may after that decide to just do all three of them as an undertaking, because I can speak briefly to the power quality, but not in detail.  I don't have the information at my fingertips right now.


Power quality, part of the recommendation was that we were to provide some detailed power quality reports to a number of customers --


MR. PENSTONE:  So I'm actually -- to enable us to give a comprehensive response, I prefer just to take the undertaking if you don't mind.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes.


MS. GRICE:  That's good.  That would be wonderful, thank you.


MS. HELT:  Ms. Grice, that will be Undertaking TCJ2.12, and if you can just state for the record -- sorry, Ms. Grice?  If you could just state for the record exactly what you are requesting so there is no mistake?


MS. GRICE:  Yes, if we can -- if Hydro One can provide a response to three recommendations of the auditor general's report which are -- it's found on page 251.  The first one is excessive number of spare transformers in storage; the second one is power quality issues are not corrected proactively; and the third is weak management oversight processes over capital budget costs.


And just -- and you gave that a number, right?


MS. HELT:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.12:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO THREE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL'S REPORT on page 251.


MS. GRICE:  So just while we are on the topic of transformer spares, I just have a couple of questions about that project in your -- sorry, my computer shut down and my reference is there.  It hasn't shut down.  I just have to get -- okay, anyway.


You have spending identified in your plan, and actually, I might as well just take you to the investment summary documents around this work.  It's S52, 53, and 51, found at Exhibit B1, tab 3, Schedule 11.


MS. LEE:  Sorry, could you repeat the ISD number?  It was S --


MS. GRICE:  51, 52, and 53.


I wanted to look at those investment summary documents along with the actual capital expenditures for this work, which is found at B1, tab 3, Schedule 1, attachment 1, page 1.  So B1-3-1, attachment 1.  Thank you.


Okay.  So when we look at the capital project, transmission, transformers, demand, and spares, I note that there is no spending in '12, 13, and '14, and I just wondered why?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Grice, it appears that this is probably a topic that should be addressed by a different panel.  I am wondering if we might be able to help by taking it away as an undertaking.


MS. HELT:  Okay.  Is an undertaking all right, Ms. Grice?


MS. GRICE:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  And then it's clear what the undertaking is?


MS. GRICE:  Yes, so it's just to explain why there is no spending in 2012, 2013, and 2014 under transmission, transformers, demand, and spares at Exhibit B1, tab 3, Schedule 1, attachment 1, page 1.


MS. HELT:  Perfect, thank you.  So TCJ2.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.13:  TO EXPLAIN WHY THERE IS NO SPENDING IN 2012, 2013, AND 2014 UNDER TRANSMISSION, TRANSFORMERS, DEMAND, AND SPARES AT EXHIBIT B1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 1.


MS. GRICE:  And then just on the years where there is spending under this category and you have got information in your investment summary documents, and I just wondered, is this -- the purpose of these documents, is this your business plan or did you prepare these just for this filing?
MS. LEE:  I can help with that.  They were prepared for the filing in compliance with filing requirements.  But they are reflective of information that is considered in the investment decision-making process.


MS. GRICE:  So are there business plans then underneath these that you have now rolled up into this document for the purposes of the filing?


MR. HUBERT:  No, it's not a business plan, but it's from the investment plan that is compiled by Mr. Penstone's group.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Well --


MR. HUBERT:  So as I said earlier, there is no business plan, comprehensive business plan --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay.  Well, part of the reason I am asking is when I read these -- and I assume this is to help justify the spending -- if you look at investment summary document 52, and under "investment summary" it says:

"Hydro One will utilize available spares or source new stock to replace failed equipment in a timely manner in order to restore the system to normal operation."


And then the basis for the budget, it says, is prepared "using historical costs of programs of similar scope".


And I just couldn't find in the evidence how many new transformers are being purchased in the test years.


MR. NETTLETON:  So Ms. Grice, just to be clear, are you asking for that specific number?  Is that what you are --


MS. GRICE:  Well, if it's not in the evidence, yes, I would like that number, and that could possibly be done by way of an undertaking.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. NETTLETON:  The engineers seem to be engrossed in discussion, so just bear with us.


So it appears, Ms. Grice, that we would take by way of undertaking to provide you with the number of transformers that have been included in the forecast.


MR. McLachlan:  Can I just ask, for clarity, when you say "the number of transformers", the question that you posed here was in regards to spares?  Are you asking for the number of transformers that we are purchasing in the test years for spares or for power transformers in total?


MS. GRICE:  Could I get both so that the total corresponds to the funding that's in the budget?


MR. McLachlan:  Yes, yes, we will take that away.


MS. HELT:  Okay.  That will be Undertaking TCJ2.14.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.14:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF TRANSFORMERS THAT HAVE BEEN INCLUDED IN THE FORECAST FOR THE TEST YEARS FOR SPARES AND FOR POWER TRANSFORMERS IN TOTAL.


MS. GRICE:  I just have a few questions left. Okay, AMPCO number 10, please.  I just wanted to clarify the response to this, and it just has to do with new standards that are going to be planned and published by year end 2016, and I was asking about any cost impacts and the reason being we were recently in a case where there was a large variance when the applicant came back, and a lot of that variance had to do with implementing new standards since they'd been out.


I just wanted to make sure.  So you have 37 new design standards, you know, being published and presumably implemented over the test period.  But you are not foreseeing any major cost impacts of implementing those standards?


MR. NG:  Specific to this IR or this question here, I will clarify that we do not undertake investment when internal design standards change.  Meaning that if we have a certain station that's laid out in a certain way and the new stations layout says we shall do it in a different manner, we do not go back to the particular station to change the configurations.


However, if there is an external standard change, I am referring to compliance standard from NERC or FERC, then we will have to undertake investment to comply with that regulatory requirement.


MS. GRICE:  And so there could be cost implications?


MR. PENSTONE:  In fact, there will be cost implications for mandatory standards that are issued by the North American Electric Reliability Corp.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  AMPCO number 45, please.  We just asked in this question if you had a third party prepare any asset condition assessment reports since 2010, and I just wanted to understand.


Have you -- prior to 2010, did you get a baseline done by a third party, or has this activity typically been done in-house?


MR. NG:  This particular IR is referring to protections and control equipment.  We responded to it by citing that since 2010, we had just one third party assessment done.


MS. GRICE:  Yes, sorry, I just asked a broader question, just in general.


MR. NG:  So if the question is do we have third party assessment on our asset conditions since 2010?  The answer is yes, we have it.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay, thank you. My last question.  AMPCO 51, please.  This interrogatory, just the preamble says that Hydro One has a portion of its engineering portfolio completed externally.


When you actually do your budgeting, do you account for that?  Do you account for the external staff doing it, or do you base your budget on internal staff doing it?


MR. PENSTONE:  I am sorry.  That's beyond the scope of this particular panel's expertise to be able to offer you an answer to that.  So we will take an undertaking.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.


MS. HELT:  That will be taking TCJ2.15.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.15:  TO DESCRIBE THE ACCOUNTING FOR ENGINEERING PORTFOLIO COMPLETED EXTERNALLY AS DESCRIBED IN AMPCO 51


MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry about that.  I realize that should have been for panel 1; sorry about that.


Ok, so thank you. Those are my questions.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Grice, that was very efficient.  Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I am hoping I can beat Ms. Grice in efficiency.


I only have two areas I really want to talk about and you don't need to pull it up, but one was under VECC 5, which is I, tab 12, schedule 5.  But really it's a more general question, and it was covered a little bit by my friend, Mr. Ferguson, earlier.


This is about customer delivery point performance, and we asked some questions about that, about the current standards, et cetera.


So let me just start this way.  Can you tell me right now what is the impact on the capital budget of outliers against the standard?  So if a delivery point is an outlier, et cetera, how does that get imputed into the capital budgeting -- or does it?


MR. McLachlan:  I think rather than give a detailed answer here, we would like to take that away as an undertaking and bring the answer back.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Why don't we hold that for a minute, because I just want to go through all these and maybe it might be just one thing you can answer because I appreciate, looking at the answer you did give, that the performance standard was set in a Board proceeding under the code.


But what I am trying to understand is the relevance of that standard as a metric in your application right now.  So one of the things obviously is how does it actually impact meeting the standard?  How does it impact your budget and where does it get put in, and what kind of cost impacts that has on your thing.


The second thing, though, I was interested in, the standard itself, as we pointed out in one of these interrogatories, is based on data that's now about 15 years old.  And it occurred to my client that over the course of 15 years, as you replace equipment and equipment is better, presumably -- not just because it's newer, but because equipment becomes better -- that in fact the standard might change if it were redone again 15 years later with a new set of ten-year data.


Is there any reason to believe that the standard wouldn't be changed if one were to re-evaluate the standard? I am not saying we are suggesting in this proceeding you would, but would that -- based on your view of equipment being put in for delivery points.


MR. McLachlan:  Can I just ask you to just clarify the last part?  I got the preamble, but specifically with regards to standard, are you asking the standard would change if it was reviewed?


MR. GARNER:  Right.  It is based, as I understood here, on data that's from '91 to 2000.  Of course, we are now in 2016.  So it begs the question – that's a ten-year period, I take it, and it begs the question that if one were to use the most recent ten-year period, would that change the standard and therefore the number of outliers, which then goes to the first question which is how much would that then impact your capital budget if you were responding to those outliers.


What we are trying to understand here is whether there might be a change in the standard, if one were to use a newer set of data.


MR. McLachlan:  There ARE two elements, I think, that I will make a comment to that.  The first one is fact, fact is that the data that would be there that's in use today, the standard is from 1991 to 2000, if that was then updated from 2001 to 2010, the then historic ten-year data would be different.  There is no way it will be exactly the same as '91 to 2000; that's just fact.


With that fact, that means that the standard would -- the way the classification of the standard resides now, that it is by load size, it is minimum and average standard levels, those values would change.


As we have indicated in the evidence, that is the last interval that the data is based on, and per the OEB agreeing to that outlier standard in 2005, we have not been asked to update, other than go with the original '91 to 2000 data.


MR. GARNER:  Yes, thank you.  I think that's the way you responded to the question also.


I guess what I am trying to understand and potentially, I guess, make submissions in this proceeding on to be helpful is whether that metric in the scorecard remains reliable -- remains important, and whether in fact in some future period it should be looked at and adjusted, and why I was asking about the materiality of the outliers was it may be that if it doesn't feed into your capital program very much then maybe that's a moot question in any event.  That's why the first question.


MR. McLachlan:  So to answer that question there, I do believe it would have -- if you use a different interval that it's based on, it will change the average values that are there in the standard.


We are in compliance with the standard right now, because we are using what was endorsed in 2005 -- 4 or 5.


MR. GARNER:  Sure, and I am not arguing that.


MR. McLachlan:  And should the OEB ask us to -- charge us to take a look at the -- you know, taking a look at another set of data and to speak with them, we would do so.


MR. GARNER:  Let me ask you this question, then:  How difficult would it be to recalculate not a standard, obviously, but recalculate what the standard would be on the most recent ten-year data?  Is that a difficult exercise?  You were telling me that you have that -- you get that data now.  Wouldn't it just be a matter of taking the data now and remaking those numbers, or was it more complicated than that, the standard?


MR. McLachlan:  It's not simple, but it is -- the data is there.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Well, why don't we leave it at this, if it's -- if you are amenable to it -- is that you would take the undertaking to describe to what effect being an outlier has on your capital budget and specifically in this application for the two-year period which projects are being initiated because of being outliers on the project.  Then we can at least get something specific to talk about.


MR. McLachlan:  Yes, we will undertake to do that.


MS. HELT:  TCJ2.16.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.16:  TO DESCRIBE TO WHAT EFFECT BEING AN OUTLIER HAS ON THE CAPITAL BUDGET AND SPECIFICALLY IN THIS APPLICATION FOR THE TWO-YEAR PERIOD WHICH PROJECTS ARE BEING INITIATED BECAUSE OF BEING OUTLIERS ON THE PROJECT.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


Now I will move quickly on to the next part, again with the capital budget, and the interrogatory was actually I-12, section -- Schedule 16.  And again, I don't think it's important you bring it up, but this was about the regional infrastructure plans.


And what I was having some difficulty with and perhaps have missed is, after listening to this very detailed asset risk, you know, assessment, candidates optimization, running it through the model, I said to myself, but don't you do these regional plans, and isn't actually -- the part of your capital plan just pops out of that?


So I was trying to figure out, how do those two things work together, and could you help me with that?


MR. YOUNG:  Mr. Garner, I will answer that one.


The regional planning largely focuses on development type projects.  Now, there may be some opportunities to integrate some of the sustainment projects with development, and there are a few examples of that, but largely speaking, they are mostly development projects that are coming out of the regional plan.


MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  That's helpful.


And I guess, then, what would then -- the second part of that was to identify which each one of these regional plans costs were in your plan, and you did give us a reference to some tables.  The difficulty -- and those tables are helpful in the sense they provide connection information, but what it really didn't give was this -- what I was looking for was to take each one of the regional plans that you have done and then say for '17 and '18 in our budget this plan costs this much and you can find it in this area, you know, it's in the sustainment area.  This plan costs this much, it's in this area, and each one of the plans you would be able to show that.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, and we do have that information.  If you look at the interrogatory response to CCC, Schedule 12...


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Maybe if I can ask that it be brought up.


MR. YOUNG:  In this interrogatory response we list all the projects which have been identified by the regional plans that are in the investment plan.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And those would all be under the development category in the larger table.


MR. YOUNG:  That's correct, that's correct.  And even in the situations where let's say there was a sustainment plan but the regional plan identified an increased need for capacity, and we looked to at the same time upsize that transformer, we would deem that a development project, because we are modifying the existing like for like.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  And just because again, as I said, I am thick, so I will repeat it the last time to myself, is that would be all in that category, and this would be the total amount of that, so if I just add these up, take that and look at the development category, I would say this total, looking at this project, will give me that subset of development.  It's not 100 percent, I take it, of that category --


MR. YOUNG:  No, and the other caution I would give is that these are cash flows and not total project costs.  Now, the total project costs are in the individual ISDs themselves.


MR. GARNER:  And they will match -- okay, okay.  And they will -- these -- but they will be identified by the same names, et cetera, these --


MR. YOUNG:  Yes --


MR. GARNER:  -- so you can actually put them together.


MR. YOUNG:  And in the ISD themselves identifies if the particular investment came out of the regional planning process.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you very much, thank you, panel.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Also efficient.


So next Mr. Dumka.  And how long do you think you will be?


MR. DUMKA:  Depends how long it takes to get an answer.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Just go ahead then.  We're not going to talk about it.  Proceed.

Questions by Mr. Dumka:


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Hopefully this will be fairly quick and efficient.  There's just two Society IRs I have -- I am seeking some clarification and potential correction.


If we could look at Society question number 7.  And this one is looking for some numbers and an answer with regards to the transmission total cost benchmarking study recommendations.  This is the one with regards to "target a corrective maintenance spend that is 25 percent of total corrective and preventative".


And the table on the first page, the last row, "corrective percentage of total", what's being provided here is actually the preventative percentage of total.  So if we could get a correction to that row.  Okay.  Yes?


MR. NG:  Yes, we will correct the table.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay, great.  So we will need --


MS. HELT:  Thank you.


MR. DUMKA:  -- an undertaking, and there may be one other thing to that.


And what we were looking for in (b) was -- and I apologize, it was wasn't clearly stated -- we are also looking for the total of those two programs, the percentage of the total of station assets and lines assets, what the grand total corrective is of those numbers, just so we could see how far off in total the corrective is in percentage from the total spend.  Do you understand where I am going?  So take the sum of station assets and the lines assets on the second page and just provide the grand total, so what is corrective.


MR. NG:  So it's adding the two tables together.


MR. DUMKA:  Yes, that's it, yeah.


MR. NG:  Sure.


MR. DUMKA:  So just to see how far we are from the 25 percent target.


MR. PENSTONE:  We will undertake to do that.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So that will be Undertaking TCJ2.17, and just to be clear for the record, it's the table found, Exhibit I, tab 8, Schedule 7, page 2 of 2.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.17:  TO PROVIDE THE VARIOUS DETAILS LISTED IN THE PAST SEVERAL QUESTIONS RE:  THE TABLE FOUND AT EXHIBIT I, TAB 8, SCHEDULE 7, PAGE 2 OF 2.


MR. DUMKA:  Right.  Yes.


And just, I am looking for a little bit of clarification on the answer to part (d), which sounds -- and it reads -- so this is simply asking, okay, so here are the numbers, we see them, we're, you know, we're far off from 25 percent, so when is Hydro One targeting to reach the 25 percent level, and the response is Hydro One's aware of the recommendation with respect to the 25 percent and is reviewing the appropriateness of the recommended target, considering the system design philosophy and demographics of the asset base.


Sort of, what's the time line for landing on, A, whether you are going to target for 25 percent and what you would do to reach the 25 percent?


MR. NG:  At this point in time I don't have a target date to complete the assessment.  I will point out that from utility to utility the definitions of corrective maintenance varies.  Something that we deem as corrective maintenance here may be a planned maintenance for other utility.  So again, this goes back to it may not be an apples-to-apples comparison, so having a target set at 25 percent may not be appropriate.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay, that's fine.  Now, you used interesting terminology, apples-to-apples comparison, and I would like to go to Society IR number 5, because in fact I am -- this was a bunch of questions around the external engineering that's being done.


I don't know who on the panel can deal with this.  It's not Mr. Ng; he seems to be shaking his head.

MR. PENSTONE:  I think if you would ask the question, we would be able to tell you whether we could address it or not.

MR. DUMKA:  All right, that's fine.  This is with regards to question (f), the response to that.  So that was to provide an annual comparison between 2012 and '18 of the fully burdened external engineering labour rates to fully burden internal engineering rates.  And we asked that things like the external contractor gross margin be included, et cetera, et cetera.  So inquiring minds are looking at the response to (f), and if I take a look at what's labelled as the fully burdened external engineering labour rate, where we were looking at this was what's the total incremental cost to Hydro One to use the external engineers.

So we want to ensure we don't get, you know, a rate of whatever it is, 50 cents an hour.  However, it doesn't take into account that the external engineering firm has got a gross margin that they put over to that.  So what we want to compare to is the full cost that Hydro One pays to the external engineering outfit to get that hour of work done.

MR. PENSTONE:  So thank you for asking the question, and I can now confirm that that's beyond the scope of this panel to be able to answer.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Dumka, it appears that the answer -- the question has been answered with the information on and in the interrogatory response.

Now, Mr. McDonell, you know, was available on panel 1 and he certainly was available to address questions relating to compensation.  So I am loathe to take more undertakings when Mr. McDonell was here, and it just strikes me that the -- I think the answer to the question that was posed is presented.

MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, but I don't believe Mr. McDonell can provide external engineering labour rates.  I don't believe that's within his accountabilities in the company.

And in fact, I asked you and panel 1 whether panel 1 could answer this question, or if it was panel 2.  So I have come here asking panel 2 on the direction you gave me. And if you want to the bounce me back to panel 1, then I guess I will have to request an undertaking and I will have to provide it to you in written format, because I have a number of questions on this specifically, and it would be more efficient if I gave it to you written and we take it from there.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Dumka, you know, I can't read minds.  And I think at this stage, if you have questions, it sounds like the best course of action is you put them in writing and we will examine them and see how we can help you.

MR. DUMKA:  That's fine.  If we can get an undertaking on that, I will provide my questions.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So undertaking TCJ2.18 will be counsel for the Society will provide certain questions with respect to Society IR number 5, particularly the response to part (f), Hydro One will undertake to review the questions, determine if it's something they can respond to and if so, provide a response to.


MR. NETTLETON:  We will take that undertaking.

UNDERTAKING NO. TJC2.18:  TO REVIEW QUESTIONS PREPARED BY COUNSEL FOR THE SEP WITH RESPECT TO SOCIETY IR NO. 5, IN PARTICULAR THE RESPONSE TO PART (f), AND IF POSSIBLE, TO RESPOND


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Mr. Dumka?


MR. DUMKA:  That's it, I am done.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Then I believe we only have about ten minutes from Mr. Thiessen, and Dr. Higgin you are also still behind the pole there?  I can't see you.

MR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. HELT:  All right, so why don't we proceed with Mr. Thiessen first and then we'll -- if it's all right for everyone to stay until 5:30, we can go through Dr. Higgin questions now or if Hydro One would prefer to take them away in writing, we can deal with that as well.

But first we will go with Mr. Thiessen.
Questions by Mr. Thiessen:


MR. THIESSEN:  Yes, hello, panel.  I hope to be fairly quick, because Mr. Oakley covered off most of the system planning and the transmission system plan questions.  So if we turn to the interrogatory by the Association of Major Power Consumers, AMPCO No. 52, and that interrogatory deals with the use of external contractors for capital work.


And in (a) of that response, provides a table for the years 2012 to 2018 and as a pretty steady percentage of work done by external contractors up to 2016.  But in 2017 and 2018, the test years, that increases fairly significantly.

And my question to you is -- I guess it's premised on the fact that I assume Hydro One is moving more towards external contractors because they are more cost effective, or that they provide some sort of good service.  And I am wondering whether you could provide an estimate of the cost savings you achieve by the percentages I see in 2018 and 2017.


MR. PENSTONE:  We will undertake to give you an answer to that.

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking TCJ2.19.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.19:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF THE COST SAVINGS ACHIEVED BY THE PERCENTAGES SHOWN IN AMPCO 52(A) in 2018 AND 2017


MR. THIESSEN:  Now, as part of these wrap-up questions, I now have some questions likely to be answered by Mr. Hubert.  But this one has to do with Building Owners and Managers Association interrogatory 36, that's BOMA 36.

In this response, Hydro One indicates that it had made some amendments to their investment planning as a result of the customer consultation.  But the response deals mainly with additional things that Hydro One has done because of the consultation, and my question to you is did you actually also reduce spending on other programs because you added these aspects of customer consultation to your plan?


Was there a trade-off with other programs?  Did you sort of prioritize and drop some things off?


MR. HUBERT:  I believe Mr. Penstone and his team will answer that.  It is change to investment plans as opposed to planning, so yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  So the outcome of the formal customer consultations was to add investments, not subtract any investments?

MR. THIESSEN:  So they are just additions to your program.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  I also have a question that has to do with key performance indicators, and this is in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 92.


And to go along with key performance indicators, you started with a scorecard as per the Board's requirements and the filing requirements, but you have also added two layers of key performance indicators behind the scorecard, levels 2 and 3, and my question is, are intervenors and the Board to rely mainly on your scorecard, or what kind of weight should we put on these developed -- these key performance indicators that are still under development?


MR. HUBERT:  Well, we have included them in the application because we believe it would inform the Board and parties.  The tier 1 or proposed performance scorecard is really the one we are filing in response to the filing requirements.


And what we have done with the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics is really enhance that.  So we believe we actually went further than the filing requirements.  Our intent here is really twofold.  This is our first performance scorecard so, as such, it is still a pioneering exercise.  We wanted to develop additional candidate metrics that we could perhaps use in the future as we evolve, so have a bigger breadth of metrics that we could use to drive results.


And that lends me to -- leads me to the second intention, which is to take the high-level business metrics which are really based on the four RRFE pillars, and to drive them into more specific areas of the business where they can reflect individual results, such as unit work programs, productivity, specific reliability initiatives, so to actually have a performance culture throughout the company, and that is consistent with the findings of the total cost benchmarking recommendations.  You will remember one of them in that report was to put in place a performance metric system in the company.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  So you would see that the tier 2 and 3 KPIs would eventually migrate into the public scorecard?


MR. HUBERT:  I wouldn't go quite that far, and the reason I wouldn't is because that would lead to a very well-populated scorecard, to say the least.  So I think we would want to have experience with these tier 2 and tier 3 metrics first, see if they are meaningful, if they drive the right results, and the other thing we also want to do is make sure they are benchmarkable, so the second purpose of a scorecard is to ensure appropriate benchmarking.  None of those have actually been fully tested.  The idea is to drive that in '17 and '18.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.


My last question has to do with the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 72.  And it deals with the part of your evidence that has to do with inter-area network transfer capability.  And there you provide some response to our question about the trends and the scope of inter-area network transfer capability.


And my question related to that is that I am wondering how you take into account system congestion in these investments, or whether that's been taken into account, or do you deal with that at all in your decision-making for system investments?


MR. YOUNG:  Out of the five investments for the inter-area network transfer capability, the only investment that might have considered some aspect of congestion would have been the east/west tie, but the need assessment for the east/west tie was conducted by the IESO.  So Hydro One did not do any congestion assessments for that particular investment.


MR. THIESSEN:  So in terms of your total investment plan, you wouldn't be looking at congestion as a criteria for making an investment decision?


MR. YOUNG:  Not for these investments, no, other than the, perhaps, the east/west tie.


MR. THIESSEN:  I see.  Is there any other part of your investment plan that deals with congestion?


MR. YOUNG:  No.


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thanks, panel.


MR. PENSTONE:  So if you don't mind, I just would like to clarify an earlier response to the question that was posed regarding the outcome of the customer consultations and whether investments were added.


Investments were added to ensure that the reliability risk was reduced.  In order to do that, I mean, the customers said, Look, maintain reliability.  We don't want the see reliability risk going in the wrong direction.  That prompted us to add in wires investments.  There were no wires investments that we removed, because removing those types of investments would have exacerbated reliability risk.


MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you for that explanation.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Thiessen.


Dr. Higgin, how would you like to proceed?

Questions by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I will proceed by outlining what I would like to put in writing so at least we have an understanding from the applicant and so on, and then we have one other outstanding issue.


So my questions will be as follow-ups to those that Ms. Grice asked about the reliability model, the consultation, and how that has affected the overall plan.  That's going to be some questions that were not quite covered in the answers, so that's the scope of it, and it will all stem from these exhibits:  Exhibit I, tab 11, Schedule 2; Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, Table 2, page 7; Exhibit B1, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 1, Table 2; and Exhibit B1, tab 2, Schedule 2, attachment 2.


So those will be the references that I will use, and so that will be based on those four evidence and interrogatory responses.


So if we could have an undertaking in that scope, that would be appreciated, that would be good for me, thank you.


Can we give a number?


MS. HELT:  No, I am just waiting for Mr. Nettleton.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, Ms. Helt, I think in the same light as the responses that we have provided to others, we would undertake to review the questions that Dr. Higgin seeks, and we will do our best to address those questions as possible.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, that will be Undertaking TCJ2.20.

UNDERTAKING NO. TCJ2.20:  TO RESPOND IN WRITING TO THE FOLLOW-UP QUESTIONS THAT MS. GRICE ASKED ABOUT THE RELIABILITY MODEL, THE CONSULTATION, AND HOW THAT HAS AFFECTED THE OVERALL PLAN RE EXHIBIT I, TAB 11, SCHEDULE 2; EXHIBIT A, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, TABLE 2, PAGE 7; EXHIBIT B1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 1, TABLE 2; AND EXHIBIT B1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 2, ATTACHMENT 2.

DR. HIGGIN:  So, thank you.


I come back to the last area that I need some direction on, and that is that, as counsel will know, that the Exhibit I, tab 1, Schedule 118, which is a Board Staff interrogatory, deals with the performance of Inergi LP.  That's not in confidence, but the information that underlies that is in confidence.


So we need to understand how we can proceed to get some clarifications.  I will just outline what they are.  We need to understand the connection between the agreement and the data in the table provided in the response.  That is, we need to understand the derivation of the specific KPIs, as well as not just the percentage of how the performance was.


So that's what I am looking for.  And obviously we can't proceed in this proceeding to address that.


MS. HELT:  Dr. Higgin -- oh, did you want to respond first, Mr. Nettleton?


The request has been made by the applicant to treat the Inergi outsourcing agreement as confidential pending the filing of a motion to review, and the panel actually did provide me with instructions to inform parties of that request and the fact that the panel did so grant the confidentiality request in the interim.


I informed parties of that, and that was Wednesday night.  Yesterday we had discussion with Mr. Nettleton and on the record he indicated that he had received instructions from his client to ask for not only the Inergi outsourcing agreement but the performance indicator document from Inergi, also to be treated as confidential pending the filing of a motion to review and the Board's subsequent determination on that motion.


Mr. Nettleton has informed me he will be filing a letter on the record on Monday setting out that request efficiently.  But in the interim and in line with what is set out in the practice direction, specifically section 5.1.14, the document should be treated as confidential now that the applicant has informed an intent to file a notice of motion to review and vary.

So that's to say that right now we are in a position where we could either go in camera, and the company witnesses can provide answers to the best of their ability, and any person here who has not signed the declaration and undertaking would be asked to leave the room, if you have specific questions with respect to either one or the other of the two documents.

Alternatively, and this is up to Mr. Nettleton, he can receive questions that will be -- it will be marked as a confidential undertaking, and it would be in the same vein as what he has just provided to you with respect to the previous undertaking to review your confidential questions and to provide a response, after reviewing them to the best of their ability.

MR. NETTLETON:  You are reading my mind, Ms. Helt.

MS. HELT:  So it's up to you --


MR. NETTLETON:  Actually, our preference I think, Ms. Helt, would be to follow option 2 and that is, Dr. Higgin, if you could, just like you would be doing with the other questions, put them into writing and provide them to us in the form of a confidential undertaking, and we would address those questions in that manner.

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, that's very fine.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That's acceptable to you?  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  We will note that then -- there is supposed to be an X marked next to the undertaking.  Do I put it before the T, or after the J?

I think I will mark it X TCJ2.21, and the X signifies it's a confidential undertaking.

UNDERTAKING NO. XTCJ2.21:  WITH RESPECT TO EXHIBIT I, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 118, TO CLARIFY THE PERFORMANCE OF INERGI


MS. HELT:  Are there any other matters, or questions relating to the technical conference?


We do have to briefly discuss the issues list, but we can do that once we are off line.

Is there anything further?  No?  Well, I would like the thank the court reporter and the witness panel for all of your assistance.  I know it's been a long day, thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 4:54 p.m.
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